# Imperial College London



National State of Patient Safety 2022 What we know about avoidable harm in England

# INSTITUTE OF GLOBAL HEALTH INNOVATION

# Contents

Acknowledgements and suggested citation	4						
Foreword from Professor the Lord Ara Darzi							
Foreword from James Titcombe OBE							
Executive summary	6						
A timeline of landmark events in patient safety in England							
1. Introduction							
1.1 What is patient safety today?	12						
Snapshot of patient safety in England	13						
1.2 Understanding safety from the perspective of patients and families	14						
Placing the state of patient safety in England in a global context	15						
1.3 Establishing a national picture of patient safety	15						
1.4 Our approach to the data	16						
2. Data about harm							
2.1 Avoidable deaths	19						
2.2 Learning from deaths	21						
2.3 Mortality rates	22						
2.4 Reported Incidents	25						
Using data to drive improvements in patient safety	27						
2.5 Healthcare-associated infections	29						
2.6 Maternal and neonatal fafety	33						
Maternity reviews and inquiries	34						
2.7 Summary	35						
3. Patient perspectives on safety	36						
3.1 Adult Inpatient Survey	37						
3.2 Community Mental Health Survey	40						
3.3 Illustrating regional variation	41						
3.4 Summary	42						

4. Staff perspectives on safety	43						
4.1 NHS staff survey							
4.2 Summary	48						
5. Indirect impact of COVID-19 on patient safety	49						
5.1 Excess deaths	51						
5.2 Impact of COVID-19 on the workforce	53						
5.3 Access to primary care	55						
Accelerating the adoption of innovation	57						
5.4 Diagnosis and management of chronic conditions	58						
Action on medication safety	58						
5.5 Access to secondary care	59						
COVID-19 Inpatient Experience Survey	60						
Indirect impact of COVID-19 on maternity services	63						
5.6 Summary	64						
6. Forward look	65						
6.1 What do we know about the current state of patient safety?	66						
6.2 Future work: are we identifying and answering the right questions?	66						
6.3 Conclusion	68						

# Acknowledgements and suggested citation

This report was produced by Imperial College London's Institute of Global Health Innovation. It was made possible by the generosity of the charity Patient Safety Watch founded by the Rt Hon Jeremy Hunt MP.

The authors would like to thank the following people who have provided valuable input and advice in the production of this report: Kelsey Flott, Owen Bray, Gianluca Fontana, Bryony Dean Franklin, Hendramoorthy Maheswaran, Paul Aylin, Clare McCrudden, Meesha Patel, Rebecca Lawton and Tony Avery.

Suggested citation: Illingworth J, Shaw A, Fernandez Crespo R, Leis M, Howitt P, Durkin M, Neves AL, Darzi A. The National State of Patient Safety: What we know about avoidable harm in England. Imperial College London (2022).

## Foreword from Professor the Lord Ara Darzi

The continuous improvement of patient safety is a priority for all modern healthcare systems. Improvements can come in the form of reduced rates of patient harm, enhanced confidence in clinicians, or greater willingness of staff to raise concerns about safety. This report explores the progress made in England by the NHS over the past 15 years.

Improvements in patient safety can only be demonstrated when meaningful data are collected, routinely and consistently, over time. There are several examples where the NHS in England has had the foresight to establish national data collections to support this ambition, such as the National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS), or to initiate national improvement programmes with accompanying data collections, such as the National Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) Prevention Programme. This report brings together data from these, and many other sources, to present a national picture of patient safety in England.

It is, of course, not just about collecting the data, but about applying the knowledge it affords us, to continually improve practice. Therefore, when the data highlight concerns, it is vital we act on it. This report identifies issues linked to an under-resourced and over-stretched workforce, which is affecting staff wellbeing and public confidence, and most likely patient outcomes. It also highlights ongoing, and worsening, problems associated with timely and equitable access to care, and the need to consider this an urgent patient safety issue.

This report also shows that the data currently collected can only tell us so much. Further work is required to understand safety concerns in near-real time, in settings outside of hospitals, and from the impact, both physically and psychologically, of people experiencing delays in their care or treatment. These are priorities that the policy and research communities must respond to. The Institute of Global Health Innovation, together with valued colleagues at Patient Safety Watch, look forward to continuing the work to help make a difference in these areas.



### Professor the Lord Ara Darzi

Co-Director, Institute of Global Health Innovation

# Foreword from James Titcombe OBE

Patient Safety Watch was founded with the aim of helping to improve patient safety, primarily through commissioning research to highlight the extent and causes of avoidable harm and the policies and interventions that will minimise it. We are incredibly grateful to Lord Darzi and the team at Imperial College London, whom we have partnered with to bring together this research looking at what we know about avoidable harm across the healthcare system in England in 2022.

The report highlights some stark statistics. When looking at rates of treatable deaths (those which can be mainly avoided through timely and effective healthcare intervention), if the UK matched the top decile of OECD countries, this would equate to 12,675 fewer deaths per year – that is 243 fewer deaths every week. Looking at primary care, in 2020, there were estimated to be between 19,800 and 32,200 cases of 'probably avoidable' significant harm to patients in England – that is between 380 and 619 patients coming to harm that could have been avoided every week.

The research presented here also highlights that the patient safety data we currently collect is limited, both in terms of accuracy and breath. This must change. It is particularly disappointing for example, that only 44% of trusts in England are currently meeting all their legal obligations under the Learning from Deaths programme.

Although the current data available can only tell us so much, the information presented here paints a clear picture of where some significant problems lie. Workforce pressures, exacerbated by the pandemic, are particularly acute and are likely to be already contributing to adverse outcomes across the healthcare system. In maternity services, although national level statistics show some encouraging improvements in key outcomes, triangulating data from maternity reviews, inquiries and regulatory processes, show that similar problems are reoccurring, suggesting that learning isn't being sufficiently embedded and sustained. Unless the pace of improvement in maternity safety increases, the government's own targets relating to maternity safety for 2025 will be missed.

Patient Safety Watch strongly endorses the recommendations made in this report and we hope to see changes across all the areas identified for action.

Behind the data and numbers, we are only too mindful that there lies a very real human toll and tragic individual stories with impacts that often span generations and affect whole communities. Together with our valued partners at Imperial College London's Institute of Global Health Innovation, we look forward to continuing our programme of research with the ultimate hope of improving patient safety and reducing avoidable harm in our healthcare system here and in other healthcare systems around the globe.



**James Titcombe OBE** 

Trustee, Patient Safety Watch



# Executive summary

Keeping patients safe during their care and treatment should be at the heart of any health system, including the NHS. Yet avoidable harm still occurs every day, around the world. There have been major efforts to prioritise patient safety in England, but the pandemic has shone a light on areas of care where progress has stalled, or safety has deteriorated. This report by Imperial College London's Institute of Global Health Innovation, commissioned by Patient Safety Watch, **brings together publicly available data to present a national picture of patient safety in England**.

There are several reasons, however, why presenting a national picture of patient safety is challenging. Most of the available data relate to hospital care, even though care is overwhelmingly provided in other settings. Most of the available data relate to past episodes of care, rather than reflecting what is happening today. And most of the available data views harm from a clinical, rather than a patient's, perspective. As a result, any national picture will be formed from an incomplete patchwork of data. Despite these challenges, several conclusions can be drawn, and they paint a mixed picture of patient safety in England.

Analysis of mortality rates over the past 10 years shows variation across the country. Regions outside of London consistently have a larger proportion of NHS hospital trusts with higher-thanexpected mortality rates. For example, in 2021, the Midlands and East of England, and the North of England, had 12% and 15% of hospital trusts with higher-than-expected mortality rates, compared to none in London. If all NHS hospital trusts had a mortality rate that matched the top performing ten per cent each year, there would have been on average 32,332 fewer deaths each year between 2011 and 2021. There are, of course, important limitations to presenting data such as these, but it does indicate the opportunity for learning from those organisations and regions performing well.

Progress in improving outcomes in maternity services is evident in the data at a national level. The years leading up to the pandemic saw reductions in rates of maternal deaths, neonatal deaths, stillbirths, and babies diagnosed with brain injury. However, despite these improvements, progress is not being made quickly enough to meet the Government's own targets by 2025, and England is lagging behind other countries such as Sweden. The public scrutiny that has followed the scandals at Morecambe Bay, Shrewsbury and Telford, and East Kent has provided further momentum in driving improvements in maternity safety; at the same time, they are a sombre reminder that beneath the national level trends lie local examples of dreadful failures in care and the inability of some organisations and systems to learn from past failures.

There is evidence of progress in creating a more positive safety culture amongst the workforce, with higher levels of patient safety incident reporting than ever before. The new Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection regime, introduced in 2014, has seen the number of NHS trusts rated "good" or "outstanding" for safety rise from 13% to 40% between 2015 and 2022. However, the most recent data from the NHS Staff Survey show that, despite steady improvement, one in four staff still do not feel secure raising concerns about unsafe clinical practice, and two in five staff do not think they would be treated fairly when incidents happen.

In the 15 years prior to the pandemic, there were significant achievements in reducing the prevalence of specific types of patient harm. The concerted efforts of healthcare workers, and the impetus provided by national campaigns, led to dramatic reductions in rates of hospital-acquired MRSA and *C.difficile* infections, and major improvements in outcomes for people with Venous Thromboembolism (VTE, or blood clots in the veins) and hip fractures. These examples show how data can provide not only a means of measuring improvements, but also the stimulus for acting in the first place, when high levels of harm or unwarranted variation exist.

The Covid-19 pandemic effectively stopped this progress on patient safety in its tracks. Since 2020, rates of MRSA and *C. difficile* infections have begun to rise again, or continued to rise in the case of *E. coli* and MSSA. Rises in rates of deaths associated with VTE and hip fracture are also evident. Further work is required to fully understand the reasons for these rises, and the resulting safety implications. The pandemic has also exacerbated issues associated with staff wellbeing and capacity, with notable rises in staff reporting burnout, ill-health due to work-related stress, and feeling that there are not enough staff to do their job properly. The NHS entered the pandemic with around 84,000 vacancies; as of June 2022, this figure stood at 132,000. Combined with the challenges of increasing waiting lists for planned care, falls in the diagnosis of some long-term conditions, and significant pressures on emergency services - all exacerbated by the pandemic - the lack of timely and equitable access to care should be considered an urgent patient safety issue. Addressing these safety challenges must be a key priority for the new Prime Minister and Health Secretary. This report makes five recommendations, highlighting the vital role that the intelligent collection and monitoring of patient safety data, and the rapid response to any concerns they raise, can play in the continuous improvement of patient safety. Underpinning all of these recommendations is the principle that, first and foremost, patient safety needs to be seen and truly understood from the patient's perspective.

#### Recommendations

# The breadth of patient safety data needs to increase.

Data should reflect the reality of people's journey through the NHS, capturing information on preventable harm across the entire continuum of care, not just when they go to hospital. Data should be collected in real time, and used routinely to trigger alerts into emerging safety issues. Data should better reflect how safe patients, families and carers feel, not just how safe they are clinically. Data should be targeted to understand whether some people are less safe than others, particularly those from disadvantaged or minority ethnic groups.

# The accuracy of key patient safety measures needs to improve.

Data on rates of avoidable deaths are not a panacea. They provide a snapshot of safety and harm, and are most usefully used to initiate further work to understand the causes of any unwarranted variation. They remain, however, a key patient safety indicator, and trusts must fulfil all of their legal obligations under the Learning from Deaths programme - something only 44% of trusts are currently doing. This includes reporting their own estimated number of avoidable deaths using locallyappropriate methods. Further work to improve routine reporting of rates of avoidable harm and death outside of hospital settings is also required.

### A workforce plan for the NHS and social care system is urgently needed.

Workforce shortages across nearly all areas of care present one of the most immediate threats to patient safety. The NHS entered the pandemic under considerable pressure, while the heroic efforts of staff to respond to the pandemic has taken a further toll evidenced in the NHS staff survey data. The Government must publish a workforce plan to demonstrate how the workforce gaps will be filled over the next decade through increases in training places and improvement of retention. Its central assumptions should be independently verified and regularly updated.

### Integrated Care Systems need to play a central role in monitoring patient safety.

Patient safety must be given sufficient priority in the establishment of the new Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) and in how they are assessed by the CQC, so that patient safety remains a key tenet under the new NHS structures. Patient safety data tends to be collected at the organisational level, but this rarely reflects the reality of a person's journey through the health and care system. The creation of ICSs presents a unique opportunity to collect and organise patient safety data at a health economy and population level to build a truer picture of safety.

### Progress in the safety of maternity services needs to accelerate.

National-level data show steady overall progress in reducing harm for mothers and babies, but evidence from major reviews and inquiries continue to highlight repeated themes suggesting that some systemic issues have not yet been addressed across the maternity system as a whole. Multiple inquiry reports have made many recommendations, focusing repeatedly on themes including speaking-up, team working, compassion, and using data to detect and act on the early warning signs of failure. These recommendations should be consolidated and implemented as quickly as possible.

# A timeline of landmark events in patient safety in England

This timeline<sup>1</sup> illustrates some of the landmark events in the evolution of patient safety in England since 2000, that have either accelerated progress or set a new direction for patient safety.



**Shrewsbury and Telford** 

Action Plan 2021-2030 published

# 1. Introduction

						$\wedge$	
			•	•			
			$\left\{ \right.$				
			•				
					•		
						•	
						X	

and the second secon

**∠** BACK TO CONTENTS

INSTITUTE OF GLOBAL HEALTH INNOVATION | National State of Patient Safety 2022 | 11

Over the past three decades, patient safety has moved from relative obscurity to become a central goal for health systems. On the 24th May 2019, member states meeting at the World Health Assembly committed to recognise patient safety as a key health priority, and to take concerted action to reduce patient harm.<sup>2</sup> The resolution included an acknowledgement of the importance of robust data and the sharing of good practice. These two principles form the basis for this report, in the knowledge that efforts to continually improve patient safety must begin with an accurate understanding of the nature and extent of unsafe care. The measurement of patient safety, like for other domains of healthcare quality, has grown to the point that data now take many different forms (from incident reporting to staff and patient surveys) and lie in many different places (from unsolicited social media platforms to systematically collected national data repositories). This report brings together some of the publicly available data to present a national picture of patient safety in England, celebrating achievements as well as identifying areas for continued action. Further work is required to ensure the insights gained through less formal channels can be incorporated appropriately into future national assessments.

## **1.1** What is patient safety today?

In the most basic terms, patient safety refers to the absence of preventable harm in healthcare. In his review of patient safety in England (2013), Professor Don Berwick stated that, while zero harm is a worthy ambition, the scientifically correct goal is the *continual reduction* of harm.<sup>3</sup> Over the past two decades, there have been concerted efforts in England to drive reductions in specific types of harm. Through these efforts, our understanding of the factors that can contribute to safer care has deepened, including the role played by creating a positive safety culture, applying the science of ergonomics and human factors, and understanding where and how healthcare systems and processes can be made more reliable.<sup>4</sup> At the same time, there are almost daily reminders of where further action is required to accelerate progress in patient safety, including the integration of care, patient and family engagement, and improved levels of transparency.<sup>5</sup>

The COVID-19 pandemic has furthered understanding, and reinforced the importance of patient safety. Ongoing and worsening challenges around delayed diagnoses and waiting lists for planned care, for example, can have major consequences for patients. The pandemic exposed healthcare workers to grave risk and extremely challenging working conditions, the cost of which – including high rates of COVID-19 deaths among health workers, burnout, psychological harm, moral injury, physical ill health, and its impact on patient safety – is still being felt and will remain relevant as healthcare services recover and reset.<sup>6</sup> At the same time, the pandemic hinted at what future models of care might look like, from the rapid advancement of treatments to the accelerated use of digital technologies to provide remote care.<sup>7</sup> The priority must be an enhanced focus on the importance of monitoring and evaluating the effect of these changes, including any unintended consequences, to inform a vision for patient safety in a post-pandemic world.<sup>8</sup>



In 2020, it was estimated that **237 million** medication errors

occur in England each year, contributing to more than **1,700 deaths**<sup>°</sup>

As of July 2021,



of maternity services in England were rated as "inadequate" or "requires improvement"

for safety by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). In 2020, there were estimated to be between

**19,800–32,200** cases of 'probably avoidable'

significant harm to patients in primary care in England each year.

In 2020/21, the cost of clinical negligence claims incurred as a result of incidents was

**£7.9 billion** 



In March 2022, the total number of people waiting for planned care reached **6.3 million**<sup>12</sup>

For the period April– June 2022, there was a shortage of more than

# 132,000

full-time equivalent healthcare staff - a vacancy rate of





In 2019, **40%** of staff reported feeling unwell as a result of work-related stress. This rose to nearly **47%** in 2021.<sup>15</sup>

In 2019, two in five

not agree there were

always enough nurses

on duty to care for them."

**patients** in hospital did

Between 2017–19, Black women were **four times more likely**, and Asian women or women of Mixed ethnicity were **twice as likely**, than white women, to die during pregnancy or childbirth.<sup>16</sup>

11

# **1.2** Understanding safety from the perspective of patients and families

Despite successful efforts over the past two decades to increase awareness of patient safety, most people's introduction to the notion tends to be when they suffer the consequences of unsafe care – which can be devastating for patients and their families. Each individual patient experience can play a critical role in reinforcing trust in the healthcare system, ensuring that people are heard and understood when there is a concern about their care, and that action is taken to prevent the same thing from happening to somebody else.

Episodes of unsafe care can provide the stimulus for review and action at a local or national level to drive improvements, as shown in the timeline on page 9. However, this *learning from failure* approach, while necessary, is only one dimension of patient safety improvement.<sup>17</sup>For all health systems, the ambition must, ultimately, be to address areas of unacceptable risk *before* they lead to serious harm, and to give equal attention to *learning from excellence*<sup>18</sup> – an ambition which forms the basis for the NHS Patient Safety Strategy.<sup>19</sup> To support this shift, patients, carers and families can be supported to play a more active role in capturing insights into unsafe care. Research has shown that data collected directly from patients can highlight issues – including fear (e.g. of other patients), uncertainty (e.g. about when they will be discharged), and delays (e.g. in a procedure) – that traditional clinical incident reporting systems overlook.<sup>20</sup> Such safety concerns are often contributory factors to future adverse events, making them possible *leading* measures of patient safety,<sup>21</sup> describing the conditions that make harm more likely to occur.<sup>22</sup>

Involving patients, carers and families proactively when they feel willing and able to do so, capitalises on their unique insights into how safely healthcare services are functioning. Some of these insights are presented in Section 3 of this report, captured as part of the National Patient Survey Programme in England. However, this report also makes clear that our understanding of the nature and scale of unsafe care in England is limited by the scope of current incident reporting and data collection mechanisms. Alternative approaches to the collection of safety intelligence, including patient-reported data, are therefore more important than ever before. The establishment of the Patient Safety Partners Programme to bring the voice of the patient to the boards of NHS organisations can play a key role to support this ambition.<sup>23</sup>

# Placing the state of patient safety in England in a global context

The risk of harm from healthcare, and the pursuit of continuous improvements in patient safety, are a concern for countries around the world. In our report, *The Global State of Patient Safety* (2019),<sup>24</sup> the burden of unsafe care was set out in stark terms as a threat to achieving the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goal<sup>[1]</sup> of access to quality health services for all.<sup>25</sup> This burden disproportionately impacts low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) where it is estimated that safety lapses result in **134 million adverse events, and 2.6 million deaths annually.**<sup>26</sup> **60% of deaths from conditions amenable to treatment are due to poor quality care in LMICs.**<sup>27</sup> The economic cost is considerable, with **15% of inpatient expenditure directed towards treating the effects of harm** in a typical country in the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD).<sup>28</sup>

The reality presented by these figures has made clear the scale of the problem of unsafe care, and the urgency with which it needs to be addressed – a challenge the global health community has responded to. In 2016, the first **Global Ministerial Summit on Patient Safety** was held in the UK to galvanise policy and prioritise action on patient safety, with subsequent summits held in Germany, Japan and Saudi Arabia, with the next planned for Switzerland in 2023. The World Health Organization hosted the first annual **World Patient Safety Day** on 17th September 2019, bringing together healthcare leaders, policymakers and the public to make the case for global action on patient safety. Most recently, the World Health Organization has developed a **Global Patient Safety Action Plan 2021–2030**, providing a framework to implement interventions and develop indicators, to improve patient safety globally over the next decade.<sup>29</sup> These developments provide the context for, and framework around which, efforts to measure, monitor and improve patient safety can be directed in England.

# **1.3** Establishing a national picture of patient safety

This report is intended to provide a stocktake on the state of patient safety in the NHS in England using data that is currently available and in the public domain, including both routinely collected data on harm and activity, and patient and staff perceptions of safety. However, measuring patient safety is challenging for several reasons: national-level data is heavily weighted towards hospital care, despite the overwhelming majority of patient contact taking place outside of hospital;<sup>30</sup> safety data tends to capture past episodes of harm, rather than current levels of safety or early signs of unsafe care;<sup>31</sup> and despite efforts to capture the patient experience, harm tends to be seen from a clinical, rather than a

patient perspective.<sup>32</sup> Therefore, any national picture of patient safety will, by its very nature, be formed from an incomplete patchwork of data derived from a variety of sources and perspectives.

The data landscape for patient safety comprises incident reporting systems, national patient and staff surveys, audits that capture information about elements of care designed to improve outcomes, data collections to record the incidence of specific types of harm, and routinely collected clinical and administrative data. Specifically, this report draws on the following sources:

 Rates of preventable and treatable mortality reported by the OECD, excess death rates from the Office for National Statistics (ONS), and research around compliance with new guidance for understanding the proportion of deaths due to problems with care

[1] The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals are 17 goals with 169 targets that all UN Member States have agreed to work towards achieving by the year 2030. They set out a vision for a world free from poverty, hunger and disease. The third SDG is to "Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages", underpinned by 13 individual targets.

- The **Summary Hospital Mortality Index (SHMI)** data published by NHS Digital to understand whether deaths following admission to hospital were higher or lower than would have been expected
- The number, type and severity of patient safety incidents reported by organisations published by NHS England and NHS Improvement
- Data on some of the most common healthcareassociated infections – MRSA, MSSA, C. difficile and E. coli – published by the UK Health Security Agency
- Data on the safety of maternity services an area of particular concern and concerted effort in recent years, focusing on rates of maternal deaths, stillbirths, neonatal deaths, and brain injuries in infants published by MBRRACE-UK
- Results of patient safety-specific questions from:
  - the national patient surveys on adult inpatient care and community mental health services published by the CQC
  - the national staff survey published by the Picker Institute Europe
  - CQC surveys on maternity services and inpatient experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic
- General practice activity data published by NHS Digital
- Data on access to secondary care services, including waiting times for elective treatment, waits in A&E, and waiting times for ambulances, published by NHS England.

Data were only considered for inclusion where they are collected consistently over time, are publicly available, and provide coverage across England. The report also includes insights from a series of patient workshops held by the NIHR Imperial Patient Safety Translational Research Centre in December 2021.

The data presented in this report tend to be held in separate locations and datasets without regular triangulation, and published in formats that can make it time-consuming to process and analyse – this report aims to address this gap. It is important to note that the vast majority of publicly-available safety data relate to hospital care, despite the majority of patient contacts taking place outside of hospital. A further challenge comes from understanding which of these datasets can be used to identify actionable insights to improve patient safety, as they defy straightforward categorisations into single, objective measures of safe or unsafe care. As such, establishing a national picture of patient safety represents a vital challenge which the health service must respond to.

# 1.4 Our approach to the data

The ability to gather data to generate knowledge, and apply that knowledge to improve practice, is a key component to the development of any *learning healthcare system*.<sup>33</sup> Data in this report are therefore presented for the purpose of improvement, not blame. Individual organisations are never identified, but variations over time, across care settings, and sometimes between regions, are shown in order to be helpful for the public, healthcare providers, commissioners of care, system leaders and policy makers. There are some cases where data from 2020 and 2021 have been excluded, where the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, or changes in the way the data are collected, distorts the picture or renders any comparisons meaningless. Figures in this report include the latest data available for each dataset as of 5 July 2022.

The focus of the report is predominantly on England, given the often different measures and data collection mechanisms in place across the UK. Comparisons with other countries are occasionally included where it can help us to understand where further improvement may be possible. Care should be taken when interpreting the trends and data. Reductions in specific types of harm are rightly cause for celebration, but we may not always know the unintended consequences on other areas of care; similarly, rising rates of reported incidents are not necessarily cause for concern, and may indicate a culture where healthcare workers feel increasingly able to report an incident.

# 2. Data about harm



### Key messages

- The majority of patient safety data collected in the NHS in England relate to past episodes of harm. Far less data are available to provide insight into the safety of care in real time, or on the conditions that can make harm more likely to occur in the future.
- The UK performs about average on rates of treatable deaths (those which can be mainly avoided through timely and effective healthcare intervention) when compared to OECD countries. If the UK matched the top decile of countries, this would equate to 12,675 fewer deaths per year.
- There is no single data source that provides a definitive number of avoidable deaths in hospitals. Estimates based on reviews of case notes (which do not document all problems with care) suggest that around 5% of hospital deaths have a greater than 50% chance of being prevented.
- Wide variation exists (between 0–13%) in the proportion of deaths reported by hospital trusts as likely to be due to problems in healthcare, as part of the new *Learning from Deaths* requirements.
- Some variation exists in hospital mortality rates at a hospital and regional level, offering valuable opportunities for shared learning across the NHS.
- If all NHS hospital trusts in England had a mortality rate that matched the top performing decile each year, there would have been on average 32,332 fewer deaths each year between 2011 and 2021.
- The number of incidents reported by NHS staff per month roughly doubled between 2010 and 2020, from around 99,000 to 184,000, suggesting the development of a more open and transparent reporting culture.
- Dramatic reductions in rates of some healthcare-associated infections (HAIs), including *C. difficile* and MRSA, have been achieved since 2007, due to the concerted efforts of healthcare workers and the impetus provided by national campaigns.
- However, rates of other types of HAIs, such as MSSA and *E. coli*, have risen steadily since 2012, and the data suggest that rates of *C. difficile* and MRSA have started to rise since the onset of the pandemic.
- Targeted improvement initiatives have resulted in significant reductions in mortality across a number of clinical areas prior to the pandemic, including for venous thromboembolism (VTE) and hip fracture. However, there has been a notable increase in deaths from VTE since 2020.
- Between 2013 and 2019, rates of neonatal deaths and stillbirths fell by 12% and 20% respectively.
- Between 2014 and 2019, rates of babies diagnosed with brain injury fell by 9%.
- Between the periods 2010–12 and 2017–19, rates of maternal death fell by 13%. Women from Black ethnic backgrounds were four times more likely to die, and women from Asian or Mixed ethnicity backgrounds were almost twice as likely to die, compared to White women.
- Several recent reviews and inquiries have found major failings in the care for women and babies in some units, sub-standard quality of investigations into poor care, and the need for the voices of women and families to be heard, particularly those from Black, Asian and Mixed ethnicity groups.

The majority of patient safety data collected in the NHS in England, and in healthcare systems generally, focus on reported cases of harm attributed to the delivery of healthcare. Such data are generally reported by healthcare workers as part of voluntary and mandatory reporting requirements, or for targeted improvement initiatives designed to address specific forms of harm. These types of measures are referred to as *lagging indicators* – relating to outcomes after an event has occurred – and form the basis for the data presented in this section of the report.<sup>34</sup> There are limitations to this approach, best illustrated by the analogy of trying to drive a car by only looking through the rear-view mirror. In other words, these data can only tell you how safe care has been in the past, but not how safe it is in real-time or will be in the future.<sup>35</sup> The Health and Safety Executive has long recommended a more balanced approach, complementing lagging indicators with *leading indicators* – relating to the precursors to harm, not just the harm itself.<sup>36</sup> These types of data, collected systematically at a national level, remain relatively rare in the NHS. Examples include staffing levels and patient perceptions of care, which are reported in later sections of this report.

### 2.1 Avoidable deaths

*Preventable mortality* is defined as "causes of death that can be mainly avoided through effective public health and other primary prevention interventions", such as deaths from heart disease caused by a poor-quality diet. *Treatable mortality* is defined as "causes of death that can be mainly avoided through timely and effective health care interventions, including secondary prevention and treatment", such as deaths from adverse events, sepsis, VTE and some forms of cancer.<sup>37, [2]</sup> Many deaths from treatable causes, therefore, should be considered as a patient safety issue when linked to the quality of healthcare provision.

In 2019 there were more than 130,000 avoidable deaths in Great Britain – more than 22% of all deaths.<sup>38, [3]</sup> Of these, 64% were classed as preventable and 36% were classed as treatable, as shown in Figure 1.<sup>39</sup>



Figure 1: Proportion of avoidable and treatable deaths in Great Britain

The UK performs slightly better than the OECD average for both preventable (117.6 deaths per 100,000) and treatable deaths (66.7 deaths per 100,000; Figure 2), but is placed in the bottom half of countries, representing room for improvement. For instance, if the UK matched the top decile of countries, this would equate to 21,733 fewer deaths due to preventable causes and **12,675 fewer deaths due to treatable causes** per year.<sup>40, 41</sup>

<sup>[2]</sup>Calculations of preventable and treatable mortality exclude deaths in people aged 75 and over.

[3] Data is available for 2020, however 2019 figures are referred to here to exclude the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic.



#### Age-standardised deaths per 100,000 due to preventable causes, 2019



#### Age-standardised deaths per 100,000 due to treatable causes, 2019

Country

Switzerland

Figure 2: Age-standardised deaths per 100,000 due to preventable and treatable causes in OECD countries. Red horizontal lines indicates the average across all OECD countries. Note: UK figure was calculated using up-to-date data from the Office for National Statistics using the same OECD methodology.



## 2.2 Learning from deaths

Based on findings from a retrospective record review, research has found that around 5% of deaths of adults in hospital had a 50% or greater chance of being preventable – this may be an underestimate though, as not all problems in care are documented in the records. The main problems found were associated with poor clinical monitoring, diagnostic errors, and inadequate drug or fluid management. While still a substantial figure, the research concluded that a focus on deaths "may not be the most efficient approach to identify opportunities for improvement given the low proportion of deaths due to problems with healthcare".<sup>42</sup>

As part of efforts to establish whether the death of a patient under the care of the NHS was due to a problem in their care, *National Guidance on Learning from Deaths* in England was published in 2017.<sup>43</sup> Based on analysis of all 222 secondary care providers' 2017/18 Quality Accounts (reports on the quality of services offered) in England, wide variation was found in the level of engagement with the Learning from Deaths guidance, and in the proportion of deaths that were linked to problems in care, as highlighted below:<sup>44</sup>

• Up to 13% of deaths were judged more likely than not to be due to problems in healthcare. The median value was 0.2%. Twenty-two trusts did not report any figure

- Only 44% of trusts were reporting all of the legally-required elements in the Learning from Deaths national guidance
- 89% of trusts reported lessons learnt the most common theme reported was poor communication, and the most common action theme reported was review of process/ standard operating procedure/pathway
- 48% of trusts have shared, or plan to share, the learning within their own organisation
- 86% of trusts reported action taken following their reviews
- Only 17% mentioned involvement of bereaved families.

The researchers concluded that "reporting variation may be due to differences in interpretation of the guidance and statutory requirements", thereby making any comparisons difficult. However, several secondary care trusts reported that they believed zero deaths were due to problems in care, which the researchers found to be improbable, emphasising the need for further work to understand these figures, and support for trusts to interpret the guidance.<sup>45</sup>

of trusts were reporting **all of the legallyrequired elements** in the Learning from Deaths national guidance<sup>44</sup>

## 2.3 Mortality rates

The Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) compares the number of patients who die following their admission to a hospital trust with the number that would be expected to die, given the characteristics (e.g. age, underlying health conditions) of the patients treated there over a 12-month rolling period.<sup>46</sup> The SHMI provides a potentially valuable insight into the safety of care, while the transparent publishing of such data along with the methods used for calculating it contribute to a culture of continuous improvement.

**Only 44%** 

Figure 3 shows a breakdown across the four regions of England, illustrating the proportion of Trusts with either more deaths than expected, fewer deaths than expected, or an expected number of deaths over a ten year period. Rates shown for each month are the 12-month rolling rate for that point in time. Deaths related to COVID-19 are excluded, as the method was not designed for use in the context of a pandemic.<sup>47</sup>

The figures show that approximately half of trusts in London had a lower-than-expected SHMI during the study period, whereas the vast majority of trusts in the other three regions (Midlands and East of England, North of England, and South of England) were in the *as expected* category. These three regions also include a larger proportion of trusts with a *higher-than-expected* number of deaths. For the most recent year (January–December 2021), all London trusts had an *as expected* or *lower-than-expected* number of deaths; the proportion of trusts with a *higher-than-expected* number of deaths was 12% in the Midlands and East of England, 15% in the North of England, and 7% in the South of England. Separate research analysing mortality rates for patients admitted with COVID-19 (March–July 2020) found only modest variations between hospitals, after adjusting for risk and random variation.<sup>48</sup>

If all NHS hospital trusts in England had an SHMI value that matched that of the top performing decile each year, there would have been on average 32,332 fewer deaths each year between 2011 and 2021. There are challenges in presenting and explaining data such as these, and it is important to bear in mind that a higher-than-expected number of deaths does not necessarily indicate poor or unsafe care, or a higher-than-expected number of avoidable deaths. Some trusts, for instance, run palliative care services which may not be fully accounted for in the data. Instead, the purpose of presenting this information is to trigger further investigation to understand the causes of any variation, and to identify opportunities for learning from those organisations and regions that are performing well.



### North of England



More than expected As expected Less than expected

#### **Midlands and East of England**



### South of England



Figure 3: Proportion of trusts in each region per Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator category.

# 2.4 Reported incidents

The National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) is the largest single source of patient safety incident data in England, and one of the largest such databases in the world. The NRLS was introduced in 2003 to collect patient safety incident reports from frontline NHS staff, with over two million incidents now reported annually. Examples of the types of incidents voluntarily reported to the NRLS include instances of a patient slipping or falling while in a care setting, a patient developing a pressure ulcer, or an incorrect medication dosage being given to a patient. The level of harm experienced by the patient is also recorded, ranging from no or low harm, through to moderate or severe harm, or death.<sup>49</sup> Figure 4 shows that the number of incidents reported per month has roughly doubled, from around 99,000 to around 184,000 between the October 2010-March 2011 and October 2019-March 2020 periods, suggesting an overall improvement in reporting culture during this time. There has been a drop in reporting rates since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, most likely due to the pressure that staff have been under.<sup>50</sup>

While most patient contacts occur outside of hospital (300 million general practice patient consultations compared to 23 million A&E visits),<sup>51</sup> hospital incidents still form the majority of all reported incidents, suggesting high levels of under-reporting from primary care.<sup>52</sup> More must be done to improve the reporting of avoidable harm at a national level in care settings outside of the hospital. For example, a recent study (2021) established that there are likely to be between 19,800 and 32,200 cases of 'probably avoidable' significant harm to patients in primary care in England each year. The study identified three types of incident that accounted for more than 90% of the issues with care: problems with diagnosis, medication-related problems, and delayed referrals.<sup>53</sup>

Figure 5 provides information on the severity of safety incidents being reported. Low and no-harm incidents consistently account for the majority of events reported during the study period, with the share of no-harm events slightly decreasing since 2018. Up until the beginning of the pandemic, there was also a decline in the proportion of deaths and severe harm events reported. It is difficult to draw definitive conclusions from this data, and further work is encouraged at both a local and national



#### Reporting period

Figure 4: Number of incidents reported to NRLS between October 2010 and March 2021 per reporting month. NRLS report data is available covering 6 months of data from October 2010 to March 2020. The last available report covers 12 months of data (from April 2020 to March 2021).

level to better understand the reasons for the fluctuations over time, and whether such changes reflect improvements in overall safety, rather than in reporting culture alone. It is anticipated that the establishment of a new Learn from Patient Safety Events (LFPSE) service in England in 2022 to replace the NRLS will support these ambitions. The LFPSE service aims to make it easier for staff to report incidents (particularly in primary care) and use new technologies, such as machine learning, to provide more detailed analyses to support improvements.<sup>54</sup>



**Reporting period** 

Figure 5: The proportion of incidents being reported to the NRLS from October 2010 to March 2021 by severity of harm. NRLS report data is available covering 6 months of data from October 2010 to March 2020. The last available report covers 12 months of data (from April 2020 to March 2021).

# Using data to drive improvements in patient safety

Establishing the current state of patient safety in England is crucial for identifying areas most in need of improvement, and to measure the success of improvement efforts. There have been some notable examples where high-profile campaigns, co-ordinated policy making, and concerted front-line efforts have led to measurable improvements in patient safety. Two of these examples are shown below.

#### Preventing venous thromboembolism

Venous thromboembolism (VTE) is a condition where a blood clot forms inside a vein. Most commonly, these clots occur in the deep veins of the legs or pelvis, known as deep vein thrombosis (DVT). Up to 60% of all VTE cases occur in hospital, or within 90 days of hospitalisation, due to patients' decreased mobility or treatment complications, making it a preventable patient safety event.<sup>55</sup> In 2005, it was estimated that more than 25,000 people in England died from VTE contracted in hospital each year.<sup>56</sup>



#### Proportion of patients admitted to hospital who were risk assessed for VTE

Figure 6a: The proportion of patients admitted to hospital who were risk assessed for VTE. The dashed blue line indicates the target for >95% of patients to receive an initial VTE assessment within 24 hours of admission.

In 2010, the National VTE Prevention Programme was launched in England, with the aim of ensuring that all adult patients admitted to hospital are risk-assessed for VTE and given appropriate preventative treatment in line with national guidelines.<sup>57</sup> Before it became mandatory for data on VTE risk assessment to be collected, the proportion of patients admitted to an acute NHS hospital who were risk-assessed was under 47% nationally. This figure rose dramatically, with the initial target of 90% first being met in November 2011.<sup>58</sup> Figure 6a shows that risk-assessment rates have been sustained across the regions of England and remain largely above the target set of 95%. Between 2012 and 2019, the rate of adult patients whose death related to VTE within 90 days of discharge from hospital fell from around 68 to 57 per 100,000 hospital admissions (Figure 6b). However, since around the start of the pandemic this figure has risen to 99 deaths per 100,000 hospital admissions by 2020/21, with no accompanying fall in the proportion of patients who were risk-assessed, suggesting the need for further work to understand the reasons for the increase.

# Deaths from venous thromboembolism-related events within 90 days post discharge from hospital



Figure 6b: Rates of deaths from venous thromboembolism-related events per 100,000 adult hospital admissions within 90 days post discharge from hospital.

#### Improving outcomes from hip fractures

Each year, approximately 247,000 patient falls are reported in hospitals in England, making it the most reported type of hospital incident.<sup>59</sup> Falls among older patients are more likely to result in harm, including hip fracture, which is the most common reason for emergency surgery and injury-related death in older people.<sup>60</sup> Inpatient falls cause an increased length of stay, loss of confidence, restricted physical activity, loss of independence and an increased risk of further falls.<sup>61</sup>

The National Hip Fracture Database, established in 2007, is an audit programme designed to facilitate improvement in the quality and effectiveness of hip fracture care by auditing care against evidence-based standards.<sup>62</sup> The continuous measurement of processes and outcomes enables local health economies to benchmark their performance against national data, and has led to reduced time to surgery and improved access to assessment by a geriatrician, both of which have been associated with a continual decline in mortality rates within 30 days for these patients<sup>63</sup> – from 8.2% in March 2012 to 6.6% by February 2020. Since the beginning of the pandemic, there has been a notable rise in mortality rates, followed by a sudden fall between December 2020 to March 2021.<sup>64</sup>

# **2.5** Healthcare-associated infections

Healthcare-associated infections (HAIs) are infections that develop as a direct result of medical or surgical treatment, or from contact in a healthcare setting. They can occur in hospitals, as well as community and social care settings, affecting both patients and healthcare workers.<sup>65</sup> HAIs often affect the most vulnerable patients, who are at increased risk due to the presence of underlying health conditions, or from undergoing certain treatments and procedures. High standards of infection prevention and control methods are essential to reducing the incidence of HAIs.

There are several HAIs that require monitoring for quality and safety purposes, the most common are as follows, and described in the sections below:

- Clostridium difficile (C. difficile)
- Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA)
- Methicillin-sensitive Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA)
- Escherichia coli (E. Coli).

### 2.5.1 C. difficile

C. difficile is a bacterium that can cause an infection in the gut. A minority of adults carry C. *difficile* ordinarily and without any symptoms; this proportion increases as adults move into older age. The risk of the bacterium causing infection increases significantly from exposure to antibiotics.<sup>66</sup> Symptoms of infection can be debilitating, occasionally causing death.<sup>67</sup> In 2006<sup>68</sup> and 2007<sup>69</sup>, the Healthcare Commission published two reports following investigations into outbreaks of C. difficile infections in two hospital trusts in England. In the wake of this increased public attention, and through the concerted efforts of healthcare workers and the impetus provided by national campaigns, rates of C. difficile infections (all cases) fell dramatically, from 148 cases per 100,000 bed days in 2007/08, to 38 cases in 2019/20. By 2020/21, rates had increased to 45 cases per 100,000 bed days, with hospital-onset rates following a similar trajectory (Figure 7).<sup>70</sup>



#### Reporting period, year

Figure 7: Rates of reported *C.difficile* between 2007/08 and 2020/21.

#### 2.5.2 MRSA and MSSA

Staphylococcus aureus is a bacterium commonly found on the skin and in the nose, but one which can cause serious health problems if it gets deeper into the body. MRSA is the strain of the bacterium that is resistant to the most widely used antibiotics. A stay in hospital increases the risk of MRSA entering the body due to patients having wounds or burns, lines into their body as part of their treatment, or due to a susceptibility caused by their other health conditions.<sup>71</sup> In the early 2000s, stories about "hospital superbugs" put the issue centre-stage,<sup>72</sup> and as with *C. difficile*, a range of targeted actions saw dramatic reductions in rates of MRSA infections by the end of the decade, as shown in Figure 8. Between 2007/08 and 2019/20, rates of all cases fell from 12 to 2.4 per 100,000 bed days; by 2020/21,

rates had risen slightly to 2.5 cases per 100,000 bed days. Hospital-onset rates have followed a similar trajectory since 2011/12 (earliest available data point).<sup>73</sup>

MSSA is a type of *Staphylococcus aureus* that, while capable of causing local and sometimes more serious infections, is sensitive to antibiotics and therefore easier to treat than MRSA. As shown in Figure 9, rates of MSSA infections (all cases) have steadily risen from 25 cases per 100,000 bed days in 2012/13 to 35 cases by 2019/20; then they increased further to 42 cases per 100,000 bed days by 2020/21. Hospital-onset rates increased as well, albeit less dramatically.<sup>74</sup> This, and other rises in hospitalonset infection rates may be due to the shift seen in hospital activity during the pandemic, but will require further monitoring and scrutiny.<sup>75</sup>



Reporting period, year





#### Reporting period, y

Figure 9: Rates of reported MSSA between 2011/12 and 2020/21.

#### 2.5.3 *E. coli*

*Escherichia coli (E. coli)* is a type of bacteria found in the gut of most people. However, as with MRSA, if a harmful strain of the bacteria manages to enter the body, it can cause infection. As shown in Figure 10, rates of hospital-onset *E. coli* infections have remained relatively steady, while rates of all cases have risen consistently, from 95 cases per 100,000 bed days in 2012/13 to 125 cases by 2019/20; they then further increased to 133 cases per 100,000 bed days by 2020/21.<sup>76</sup> Some estimates suggest that up to half of *E. coli* infections contracted outside of hospital involved a recent healthcare (e.g. primary or community care) interaction, making this a patient safety issue.<sup>77</sup>

The dramatic reductions in rates of *C. difficile* and MRSA in England are an outstanding achievement, and one the NHS should be proud of. A range of national actions, combined with the dedication of

staff, contributed to these reductions. Although it is not possible to say with any certainty which of these interventions were critical (such as improved hand hygiene and isolation procedures), perhaps the most influential was the introduction of mandatory reporting of cases of MRSA, which "quantified the problem and made it clear that action was needed across the NHS".<sup>78</sup>

A recent upturn in rates of these infections, combined with the lack of progress in tackling rates of *E*. *coli* and MSSA and rates of healthcare-associated cases of COVID-19 (estimated at around 1 in 6 cases amongst hospitalised patients during the first six months of the pandemic<sup>79</sup>), serves as a reminder of the importance of continually monitoring and responding to the data, to ensure the progress made in tackling these dangerous infections is maintained and built upon.



#### Figure 10: Rates of reported *E.coli* infection between 2012/13 and 2020/21.

# 2.6 Maternal and neonatal safety

Providing safe care to women and babies in pregnancy is a priority for all health systems, and the significant impact of complications and deaths that occur from maternity care should not be underestimated. Tragic events and high-profile hospital failures in recent years in England have provided the stimulus and moral imperative for major national improvement efforts. A vision for improving the safety of maternity services was set out in the Better Births report,<sup>80</sup> with a series of local and national activities to realise this vision co-ordinated through the Maternity Transformation Programme.<sup>81</sup> In 2017, the National Maternity Safety Ambition was set to reduce 2010 rates of stillbirths, neonatal deaths, maternal deaths and brain injuries in infants in England, by 50% by 2025.<sup>82</sup>



and **neonatal deaths fell by 12%** between 2013 and 2019

#### 2.6.1 Maternal deaths

Between 2010-12 and 2017-19, rates of maternal deaths in the UK fell by 13%, from 10.1 to 8.8 deaths per 100,000 maternities. In 2017-19, 191 women died during or up to six weeks after pregnancy from causes linked to their pregnancy, out of nearly 2.2 million women who gave birth in the UK.<sup>83</sup> Reviews undertaken as part of MBRRACE-UK – a UKcommissioned audit programme that collects data on deaths of mothers and babies – found that for 37% of the women who died, improvements in their care would have made a difference to their outcome. The most recent data also identified that women from Black ethnic backgrounds were four times more likely to die, and women from Asian or Mixed ethnicity backgrounds were almost twice as likely to die, compared to White women.<sup>84</sup>

# **2.6.2 Stillbirths and neonatal deaths**

Stillbirth is defined as the delivery of a baby at or after 24 weeks of pregnancy, who shows no sign of life. A neonatal death describes a baby born at or after 20 weeks who dies before they are 28 days old. Data collected through the MBRRACE-UK audit show that stillbirth rates in the UK fell by just over 20% between 2013 and 2019, from 4.2 to 3.4 per 1,000 births. During the same period, neonatal deaths in the UK fell by 12%, from 1.8 to 1.6 per 1,000 births.<sup>85</sup> Between 2012–2014, the proportion of babies diagnosed with a brain injury rose before steadily falling again by 2019, **representing a fall of 9%** 

#### 2.7.3 Brain injury

Brain injury in infants caused during or soon after birth is a serious patient safety issue which can lead to long-term conditions later in life including cerebral palsy, blindness, deafness and learning difficulties. As part of work done by the Neonatal Data Analysis Unit at Imperial College London, consensus was reached for the first time in 2017 on how to calculate these rates, with a baseline established to help measure progress against the National Maternity Ambition. Between 2012 and 2014, the proportion of babies diagnosed with a brain injury rose from 4.2 to 4.6 per 1,000 live births, before steadily falling again to 4.2 per 1,000 live births by 2019, representing a fall of 9%.<sup>86</sup>

# Maternity reviews and inquiries

In recent years, following the tragic deaths of women and babies under the care of NHS Hospital Trusts, there have been several reviews and inquiries into the safety and quality of maternity services.<sup>87</sup> These reports have prompted action, with the government each time introducing a range of measures at both the local and national level. However, some of the same issues continue to be reported in each subsequent investigation, raising questions about the ability of the system to learn from past problems. These issues include:

- Failure to recognise the nature and severity of the problem
- Failure to escalate a problem quickly
- Missed opportunities to intervene
- Inadequate response to concerns raised by relatives
- Significant staffing and training gaps across both midwifery and medical teams

- Poor relationships between staff groups
- Poor quality investigations that did not adequately address concerns, involve families, or implement the necessary changes
- Voices of women not being heard.

A recent investigation by the charity Birthrights into the injustice in maternity care for women from Black, Asian and Mixed ethnicity groups, where they heard from women's experiences alongside testimony from health professionals, found recurring themes around feeling unsafe, concerns being dismissed, complaints of pain being ignored due to racial stereotyping, and microaggressions causing harm and distress.<sup>88</sup>

Maternity services in England continue to face significant challenges, which have been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic and by the numbers of midwives leaving the service. A recent Health and Social Care Committee report stated that NHS maternity units in England will need investment of £200-350 million to prevent women and babies from dying or experiencing avoidable harm.<sup>[4]</sup> The report also stated that, if the rate of improvement in maternity safety matched that in Sweden, approximately 1,000 more babies would survive each year.

<sup>[4]</sup>These reviews include the Cumberlege review 2016 (National Maternity Review), Kirkup review 2015 (Morecambe Bay), Ockenden Review 2020 & 2022 (Shrewsbury and Telford), and Kirkup Review 2021 (East Kent).

## 2.7 Summary

There are several interpretations of the term avoidable deaths in healthcare, and there is no single measure or data source that provides a definitive number of deaths that are solely attributed to problems in care. While each potentially avoidable death is a tragedy to be learned from, researchers emphasise the need to use a much broader array of data beyond death rates to identify opportunities for improvement, given the relatively low proportion of estimated deaths due to problems in care. However, regional variations in mortality rates illustrate the continued importance of monitoring and publishing such data, and identifying the causes of such variation.

The success of initiatives to improve outcomes for patients in specific areas of care, such as for patients with VTE and hip fractures, and the dramatic reductions in rates of some HAIs, shows what can be achieved when healthcare policy and practice are aligned, coupled with the dedicated efforts of frontline staff. However, there are some warning signs in these data, with some rates beginning to rise again, underlining the need to maintain a constant focus across all domains of safety.

There have been some notable improvements in the safety of women and babies, with overall reductions in rates of stillbirths, neonatal deaths, babies diagnosed with brain injury, and maternal deaths, which can be attributed to the various national initiatives introduced in England in recent years.<sup>89</sup> However, current rates of improvement suggest it is unlikely that the Government will achieve its own targets in these areas by 2025. Improving the outcomes and experiences for women from Black, Asian and Mixed ethnicity groups, is a pressing priority, in the context of worsening workforce shortages and a maternity litigation bill accounting for nearly 60% of all claims by value in the NHS.<sup>90</sup>

# 3. Patient perspectives on safety

- . . . . . . . . . . .
- .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
   .
- · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
- . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

### Key messages

- National patient survey results present a mixed picture on key aspects of safety since 2010.
- There have been perceived improvements in areas including hospital cleanliness, communication from clinicians, and confidence in the clinicians providing treatment – figures which rose further during the pandemic, which is a testament to the dedication of staff during this time.
- However, there are warning signs in the most recent available data (2019) which relate to the availability of staff: two in five patients in hospital did not agree that there were always enough nurses on duty to care for them; only one in three patients reported always being able to find someone on the hospital staff to talk to about their worries and fears.
- Approximately half of patients in 2020 reported feeling they received enough support after leaving hospital to recover and manage their condition.
- Community mental health patients in 2021 reported that only around half of the time were they involved as much as they wanted to be in their care, and got the help they needed if they experienced a crisis out of hours.

The data presented up to this point have focused largely on measures of harm reported by clinicians and other healthcare workers. These data are important, but only provide part of the picture. In this section, data are presented from the patient perspective, covering topics including perceptions of cleanliness, communication with staff, confidence in the clinicians treating them, staffing levels, care provided after discharge, and involvement in care and decisions.

Several mechanisms are in place to capture patient feedback on the quality and safety of healthcare services in the NHS in England,<sup>[5]</sup> while new independent platforms<sup>[6]</sup> enable the sharing of experiences of care – both positive and negative – in the public domain. Despite this growth in opportunities for patients to provide feedback on their care, the challenge remains in how this data can be used to support change both at a local and national level.

This section of the report presents data from the NHS Patient Survey, the most comprehensive and consistently reported survey of its kind in England. Findings are reported from two of the five surveys conducted – the Adult Inpatient Survey and Community Mental Health Survey – as they offer the most complete longitudinal data.<sup>[7]</sup> In Section 5, findings on people's experiences during the pandemic are also presented from the national inpatient and maternity surveys.

## 3.1 Adult Inpatient Survey

The Adult Inpatient Survey captures the experiences of adults who have been admitted to an NHS hospital. The latest survey for which data is available is 2020, though in some places we refer to 2019 figures, either because the question was not asked in 2020 or because there were changes in the way it was asked. The 2020 survey involved 137 NHS Trusts in England. Responses were received from 73,015 patients, a response rate of 46%.<sup>91</sup> Data were collected between January 2021 and May 2021.<sup>[8]</sup> The results are presented below under the five broad categories of cleanliness, communication with clinicians, confidence in clinicians, staffing levels, and care after discharge - categories which we consider to be most closely connected to patient safety.

[5] Such mechanisms include the Friends and Family Test, where patients are asked how satisfied they were with their overall experience of the service, providing a score ranging from "very good" to "very poor".

<sup>[6]</sup>An example includes Care Opinion.

[7] The other surveys that form part of the national patient survey programme cover Children and Young People's services, Maternity services, and Urgent and Emergency Care.

[8] Patients eligible for the survey were those aged 16 years or older, had spent at least one night in hospital and were not admitted to maternity or psychiatric units.

#### 3.1.1 Cleanliness

Between 2010 and 2019, the proportion of patients reporting that the hospital room or ward that they were in was "very clean" increased from just under 64% to 69%; this rose to 77% in 2020 (Figure 11). This increase, coupled with the low rates reported for HAIs during the same period (see Section 2.5) illustrate the progress made during this time in infection control and prevention due to the continued efforts of healthcare workers.

#### How clean was the hospital room or ward that you were in?\*



#### Reporting period, year

\* 2010–19: Q16: How clean was the hospital room or ward that you were in?
2020: Q8: In your opinion, how clean was the hospital room or ward that you were in?

Figure 11: Proportion of respondents reporting that their hospital room or ward was "very clean" in the patient survey. Note: the wording in this question changed slightly in the 2020 survey and part of the variation in the results could be attributed to it.

# **3.1.2** Communication with clinicians

Feelings of psychological safety in hospital can be helped, or hindered, by the quality of communication from clinicians. Approximately twothirds of patients in 2019 said that they received answers they could understand from doctors (66%) and nurses (68%) when they had a question to ask – these figures have been steadily rising since 2010. During the same period, fewer patients also reported feeling that doctors talked in front of them as if they weren't there (76% said no in 2019 compared to just under 71% in 2010).
#### 3.1.3 Confidence in clinicians

Confidence of patients in the clinicians treating them is affected by a wide range of factors, but provides a strong overall indication of the quality and safety of care provided in the ward or hospital room. These figures have risen steadily for doctors and more notably for nurses since 2010. Nearly four out of five patients had confidence in the doctors (79%) and nurses (77%) treating them in 2019; this rose to 84% in 2020 for doctors and 83% for nurses.

- 2010–19: Q24: Did you have confidence and trust in the doctors treating you?
  2020: Q16: Did you have confidence and trust in the doctors treating you?
- \*\*\* 2010–19: Q27: Did you have confidence and trust in the nurses treating you?
  2020: Q19: Did you have confidence and trust in the nurses treating you?

#### Did you have confidence and trust in the doctors treating you?\*\*



#### Did you have confidence and trust in the nurses treating you?\*\*\*



Figures 12a and b: Proportion of respondents reporting that they always had confidence in the doctors and nurses treating them respectively.

#### 3.1.4 Staffing levels

Adequate staffing levels are an integral part of providing safe care to patients,<sup>92</sup> and despite a range of new initiatives and resources to support safer staffing,<sup>93</sup> recruitment and retention remain major concerns for care providers and patients alike. In 2019, around two in five patients felt that there weren't always enough nurses on duty to care for them - this figure has stayed broadly constant during the reporting period. At the same time, there has been a fall in the proportion of patients who said they could always find someone on the hospital staff to talk to about their worries and fears - from more than 39% in 2010 to just over 36% in 2019. Around threequarters of patients have consistently reported that they felt the members of staff caring for them worked well together.

#### 3.1.5 Care after discharge

To understand patient safety from the patient's perspective, it is important to capture information about their care over time and in different care settings.<sup>94</sup> The Adult Inpatient Survey asks patients about some aspects of their care after leaving hospital. Approximately half of patients felt they got enough support after leaving hospital to recover and manage their condition – a figure which fell slightly between 2016 and 2020, although this may be partially attributed to the wording of the question having changed slightly during this period.

During the same period, there have also been slight falls in the proportion of patients who felt completely informed about medication side effects (from 39% in 2015 to 37% in 2019) or about danger signals to watch for when they went home (from more than 42% in 2015 to just over 40% in 2019).

## 3.2 Community Mental Health Survey

The Community Mental Health Survey captures the experiences of people who receive care in the community for a mental health condition. The latest survey for which data are available is 2021. It involved 54 NHS Trusts in England. Responses were received from 17,322 service users; a response rate of 26.5%. Questionnaires were sent out between February 2021 and June 2021.<sup>95</sup> COVID-19 had a significant impact on the way services were delivered during this time, which has been taken into account in how the trends are reported.

## **3.2.1** Involvement in care and decisions

Involving people with mental health conditions in aspects of their care, and decisions about their care, is a fundamental principle that can help to improve their feelings of safety and their health outcomes.<sup>96</sup> 52% of people surveyed in 2021 felt they were involved as much as they wanted to be in agreeing what care they will receive – a fall from 56% in 2014 . In 2021, 61% of respondents felt that decisions were made together with a health professional during discussions about their care.

#### 3.2.2 Accessing care

In the 2020 survey, two specific questions were introduced around accessing care when needed. Nearly 74% of patients surveyed said they would know who to contact out of office hours if they experienced a crisis, and just under half stated they definitely got the help they needed when contacting this person or team.



In 2019, around **two in five patients** felt that there weren't always enough nurses on duty to care for them.

## 3.3 Illustrating regional variation

As part of our analysis, survey data were analysed for variation between different regions of England. There are additional challenges when comparing data that is aggregated at a regional level; at the same time, it is useful to highlight areas where some regions could learn from those performing particularly well. For example, Figures 13a and b show that the North East of England is performing slightly better than any other region for patients feeling informed of potential side effects of their medication in both inpatient and community mental health services. Examples of positive deviance like this should be explored further to understand their causes and potential for learning opportunities across the country.

#### Adult Inpatient Survey – 2019

Q58: Did a member of staff tell you about medication side effects to watch for when you went home?





#### Community Mental Health Survey – 2019

Q21: Have the possible side effects of your medicines ever been discussed with you?



Figures 13a and b: Proportion of respondents who agreed that staff warned them about possible side effects with their medication in the inpatient and community mental health surveys respectively, by region.

## 3.4 Summary

Patient perspectives provide a valuable insight into the quality and safety of care, and sometimes early indicators of risks within healthcare systems. The Adult Inpatient Survey shows perceived improvements in key aspects of safety such as cleanliness, communication from clinicians, and confidence in those caring for them on the one hand; whilst on the other hand there are some warning signs around perceptions of insufficient nurses on duty, patients being unable to find somebody to talk to about their worries and fears, and a lack of access to care and information after discharge – an issue which was further reflected in responses during the pandemic. The Community Mental Health Survey analysis highlights the importance of making every effort to involve people in decisions about their care – an aspect of care that can contribute to feelings of psychological safety for particularly vulnerable members of the population.

# 4. Staff perspectives on safety



· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

### Key messages

- Staff survey results present a mixed picture on staff perceptions of safety since 2016.
- In 2021, three quarters of staff reported that they would feel secure raising concerns about unsafe clinical practice in their organisation a figure that has risen by almost five percentage points since 2017.
- There are positive overall trends between 2016 and 2020 in perceptions from staff of how their organisation responds to, and treats staff involved in, errors, incidents and near-misses.
- Despite a gradual improvement of 13% between 2016 and 2020, two in five staff still did not agree that they would be treated fairly when errors, incidents or near misses occur.
- Staff working in ambulance services consistently report more negatively on survey questions relating to patient safety.
- Staff from Black and minority ethnic groups experience higher rates of harassment, bullying and abuse from both patients and the public (29% and 27%, respectively), and colleagues (27% and 23%, respectively), compared to White staff.

## 4.1 NHS staff survey

To generate a picture of staff-reported measures of safety, this section (and Section 5) provides an analysis of results from the NHS Staff Survey – the largest single source of NHS staff opinion in England. The latest survey for which data is available is 2021, although some questions discussed below were not included in the 2021 survey. In those instances, data from the 2020 survey is used. The 2021 survey was conducted between September and December 2021. Responses were received from 648,594 members of staff, a response rate of 48%.<sup>97</sup> The 2020 survey was conducted between October and November 2020. Responses were received from over 595,000 staff, a response rate of 47%.<sup>98</sup>

Results from the questions most relevant to patient safety are described below, covering three broad areas: errors, incidents and near misses; reporting unsafe practice; and harassment, bullying and equality. Research from Imperial College London has shown that positive NHS Staff Survey results are associated with an NHS Trust being classified as *good* or *outstanding* for safety by the CQC.<sup>99</sup> Proportion of trusts rated Good or Outstanding for safety by the CQC in their latest available report: December 2015 - 13% May 2022 - 40%

## **4.1.1** Errors, incidents and near misses

The Staff Survey asks a range of questions related to staff experiences and perceptions of patient safety incidents, errors and near misses (where an incident or error almost, but does not, occur). As shown below, there has been a welcome increase in the proportion of staff feeling that their organisation takes action to prevent the same incident from happening again (Figure 14), and in staff feeling that they are treated fairly when incidents occur (Figure 15) – that said, two in five healthcare workers still do not agree that they are treated fairly in such circumstances. Staff from ambulance services report more negatively on these questions, but show a similar upward trend.



When errors, near misses or incidents are reported, my organisation takes action to ensure that they do not happen again

Figure 14: Proportion of respondents who agree or strongly agree that their organisation takes action to ensure errors, near misses and incidents do not happen again. Note – these questions were not asked as part of the 2021 survey, results shown here are from the 2020 survey.

#### My organisation treats staff who are involved in an error, near miss or incident fairly



Figure 15: Proportion of respondents reporting that they agree or strongly agree their organisation treats staff involved in errors, near misses and incidents fairly. Note - these questions were not asked as part of the 2021 survey, results shown here are from the 2020 survey.

## % of staff who 'agree' or 'strongly agree'

#### 4.1.2 Reporting unsafe practice

Three-quarters of staff on average report that they would feel secure raising concerns about unsafe clinical practice, a figure that has steadily increased since 2016 across all care settings. Similar figures are reported for staff feeling like their organisation would address their concerns (Figure 16), and concerns raised by patients and service users (Figure 17) – though the latter figure dropped from nearly 75% to 72% in 2021 for the national average.

#### I am confident that my organisation would address my concern

100% Proportion of staff, % 75% 50% 25% 0% -2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Reporting period, year Acute Specialist - MH & LD, and MH, Ambulance National average Acute and Acute Community & Community LD & Community

% of staff who 'agree' or 'strongly agree'

Figure 16: Proportion of respondents reporting that they agree or strongly agree their organisation would address their concern.

#### My organisation acts on concerns raised by patients/service users

% of staff who 'agree' or 'strongly agree'



Figure 17: Proportion of respondents reporting that they agree or strongly agree their organisation acts on concerns raised by patients or service users.

#### 4.1.3 Harassment, bullying and equality

A motivated, inclusive and valued workforce contributes to the delivery of high-quality patient care, increased patient satisfaction and improved patient safety.<sup>100</sup> However, concerns have been identified about the extent to which "acceptance of discrimination, bullying, blame cultures and responsibility avoidance has almost become

normalised in certain parts of the system...".<sup>101</sup> The NHS Staff Survey in 2021 found that around a guarter of staff reported experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from patients, relatives or the public (Figure 18), as well as from colleagues (Figure 19). Staff from Black and minority ethnic groups experience higher rates of harassment, bullying and abuse from both patients and the public (29% and 27%, respectively), and colleagues (27% and 23%, respectively), compared to White staff.

#### Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from patients, relatives or the public in the last 12 months



Figure 18: Proportion of respondents reporting that they experienced harassment, bullying or abuse from patients, relatives or the public in the last 12 months.



#### Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from colleagues in the last 12 months

Figure 19: Proportion of respondents reporting that they experienced harassment, bullying or abuse from colleagues in the last 12 months

## 4.2 Summary

As with the data analysed from the Patient Survey, the Staff Survey presents a complex picture when it comes to perceptions of safety. Overall, there are positive trends reported by staff in how their organisation approaches the reporting of, and response to, clinical incidents and unsafe practice – this is an important finding, and a reflection of the efforts to foster a more positive safety culture in the NHS. However, a significant proportion of staff still feel they would not be treated fairly when errors or incidents occur, and staff working in ambulance services report more negatively across the board on questions relating to perceptions of safety. Staff from Black and minority ethnic groups experience higher rates of harassment, bullying and abuse from both patients and colleagues compared to White staff, reaffirming the importance of addressing inequalities in the workforce.

# 5. Indirect impact of COVID-19 on patient safety

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

the second s

### Key messages

- The NHS workforce entered the pandemic already experiencing high rates of work-related stress and burnout, a trend which has accelerated since the onset of the pandemic. In 2021, almost half of respondents to the NHS Staff Survey reported feeling unwell due to work-related stress during the previous 12 months.
- 34% of staff reported always or often feeling burnt out because of work in 2021; for staff in ambulance trusts, this figure was 48%.
- The NHS entered the pandemic with around 84,000 vacancies; as of June 2022, this figure stood at more than 130,000. Respondents to the NHS Staff Survey who felt there were enough staff at their organisation to do their job properly fell from 38% in 2020 to 27% in 2021.
- More than two in five respondents to the GP survey said they avoided making an appointment in the previous 12 months, with nearly 20% of those people doing so because they were worried about the burden on NHS services.
- The number of people waiting for planned care as of March 2022 stood at more than 6.3 million in England a figure which has grown by more than 40% since February 2020.
- More than half of respondents to a survey reported that waiting for their care affected their mental health. The safety of patients, including their psychological safety, while they wait to access care is a priority area for further research.
- The proportion of patients waiting more than four hours in A&E has increased from just under 15% in April 2019 to over 25% in March 2022.
- The proportion of ambulance handovers experiencing a delay of more than 30 minutes increased from 12% in 2019 to 21% in 2022.
- Ambulance response times have worsened since the onset of the pandemic for Category 2 calls (potentially serious conditions). The most recent data, for April 2022, showed a difference in average response times of 47 minutes between regions.
- Along with delays in the diagnosis of some long-term conditions, there are likely to be longer-term consequences on patient safety and outcomes resulting from issues associated with accessing care.
- COVID-19 restrictions, combined with a lack of clear guidance and information, contributed to feelings of anxiety and distress for women during their pregnancy.
- The adoption of innovations, including online consultations and remote monitoring technology, accelerated during the pandemic however further research and continuous evaluation is needed to fully understand their safety implications.

The COVID-19 pandemic has placed unprecedented strain on health systems, and indeed all aspects of society, across the world. The direct health impact of the pandemic in England is evident from the data – as of July 2022, nearly 19 million people had tested positive, over 155,000 people had lost their lives,<sup>102</sup> and an estimated 1.8 million people had reported experiencing long COVID symptoms.<sup>103</sup> What is less evident from the data is the *indirect* impact of COVID-19 from a patient safety perspective. In other words, have healthcare services become less safe due to changes in the way services are designed or delivered? The short answer is yes, due in large part to the pandemic's impact on timely, and sometimes equitable, access to healthcare services – whether that is access to a GP, a specialist, a paramedic, or an emergency care doctor. However, it is important to acknowledge that many of these changes to services

#### were considered necessary to contain the spread of infection and mobilise the delivery of the vaccination programme.

This chapter presents data on where the pandemic has exacerbated problems associated with accessing or delivering healthcare services safely. The available data relates predominantly to healthcare activity, rather than outcomes for patients, therefore the impact on patient safety is inferred – addressing this gap in the data is a challenge that the research and policy community must respond to. Insights and analysis are also presented across other domains on safety, including the overall impact on mortality, on the wellbeing and psychological safety of healthcare workers and patients, and on medication safety – the theme for the 2022 World Patient Safety Day.

## 5.1 Excess deaths

Excess deaths refers to the difference between the number of observed deaths and those that would have been expected in the absence of the pandemic.<sup>104</sup> Excess deaths can be a helpful measure to understand the *indirect* impact on mortality due to the pandemic. For instance, it can capture those people who died as a result of health systems becoming overwhelmed, or from people avoiding care.<sup>105</sup>

Total excess deaths excluding Total excess deaths deaths due to COVID-19 50.000 fotal excess deaths, number 40,000 30,000 -20,000 10.000 0 -10,000 Jul-2020 Jan-2021 Jul-2021 lan-2020 lan-2022 Reporting period, month

Figure 20 shows the number of excess deaths between March 2020 and December 2021 in England, both including and excluding deaths due to COVID-19.<sup>106</sup>

Figure 20: Total excess deaths, including and excluding deaths due to COVID-19.

The pattern of total excess deaths illustrates the deadly impact of the pandemic, broadly across three waves in spring 2020, winter 2020, and autumn/winter 2021. The pattern of total excess deaths *excluding* those due to COVID-19 presents a more complex picture – most notably, between May 2020 and June 2021, where the number was below zero. In other words, fewer deaths were recorded during this time from causes other than COVID-19 than would have been expected in a typical corresponding time period. While there are likely to have been falls in deaths from some causes during this period (such as from infectious diseases, due to social distancing measures), for others it is unlikely to be a true reduction, and instead due to factors such as "displaced mortality" – where people would have died from another cause, but instead died earlier from COVID-19.<sup>107</sup>

It has been widely reported that the overall impact of COVID-19 has not been distributed evenly across all sections of society. For example, people of working age from the poorest 10% of areas in England were almost four times more likely to die from COVID-19 than those in the wealthiest 10% of areas.<sup>108</sup> Analysis of excess deaths by levels of deprivation further illustrates this divide. Figure 21 shows that higher levels of deprivation were associated with higher numbers of people who died as an indirect result of the pandemic between March 2020 and December 2021.<sup>109</sup>



Figure 21: Total excess deaths for each Index of Multiple Deprivation decile that occurred between March 2020 and December 2021.

# 5.2 Impact of COVID-19 on the workforce

Prior to the pandemic, the strain on the workforce was already evident. For example, a survey of doctors who had quit working in the NHS, conducted in March 2020, found that more than a quarter reported burnout as their reason for leaving – this figure was nearly 43% for GPs.<sup>110</sup> Research has shown that burnout is linked to a decline in patient safety and outcomes, and an increase in patient dissatisfaction and complaints.<sup>111</sup>

The extent to which work impacts on the health of staff is not only a key measure of workplace safety, but also a factor that can affect the safe provision of healthcare services. Health and care workers did an incredible job to meet the demands placed upon them during the height of the pandemic whilst maintaining essential services. However, this has come at enormous physical and psychological cost.<sup>112</sup> Some sections of the workforce were particularly badly affected, whilst the impact on non-clinical but essential staff – including porters and domestic assistants – should not be underestimated.<sup>113</sup> Care workers and home carers faced some of the highest mortality rates during the height of the pandemic,<sup>114</sup> whilst a study reported that nearly half of intensive care staff met the criteria for post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) during the winter surge of 2020/21 – a level comparable to UK military veterans deployed in Afghanistan in a combat role.<sup>115</sup>

Using data from the NHS Staff Survey (see Section 4 for further background information), the national average proportion of staff who reported feeling unwell due to work-related stress during the previous 12 months increased from just under 37% in 2016 to over 40% in 2019; in 2020, this rose to 44%, and nearly 47% in 2021. The figure for ambulance staff in 2021 was nearly 58% (see Figure 22).



## **During the last 12 months have you felt unwell as a result of work related stress?** % of staff who 'agree' or 'strongly agree'

Reporting period, year

Figure 22: Proportion of respondents who agree or strongly agree to feeling unwell in the last 12 months due to work related stress.

The proportion of doctors in training that report feeling burnt out rose from 23% to 33% between 2020 and 2021, and from 25% to 37% for those that report feeling exhausted in the morning at the thought of another day at work.<sup>116</sup> These findings are reinforced by responses in the NHS Staff Survey, where 34% (national average) of staff reported always or often feeling burnt out because of work in 2021. For staff in ambulance trusts, this figure was 48% (see Figure 23 right).

These effects have clearly impacted people's feelings about their work. The NHS Staff Survey found that, in 2021, 31% (national average) of respondents often thought about leaving their organisation; for ambulance staff, this figure was 42.5% (see Figure 24 right). The survey also found an overall increase in people wanting to move out of healthcare entirely between 2020 and 2021, most notably again for staff from ambulance trusts, where the figure rose from 8.6% to 12.6%.

How often do you feel burnt out because of your work?

% of staff who 'agree' or 'strongly agree'



#### I often think about leaving this organisation

% of staff who 'agree' or 'strongly agree'



(Top right) Figure 23: Proportion of respondents who agree or strongly agree to feeling burnt out because of their work in 2021.

(Bottom right) Figure 24: Proportion of respondents who agree or strongly agree that they often think about leaving their organisation.

#### Impact of workforce pressures on patient perceptions of safety

Taken from the NIHR Imperial College London Patient Safety Translational Research Centre Focus Group, 2021 (Anonymous).

"I think there is a patient safety issue in the strain put on healthcare workers. I have friends who work in A&E and other departments, and I am acutely aware of the hours they are working and the stress. Often times you can see it when you attend appointments, and this can lead you to feel unsafe (because you don't know they are able to provide all the care they should due to time/cost/pressures). I think more needs to be done to protect the wellbeing and mental health of care staff. This ties in again to feeling like you can access healthcare: Should I really go in, unless I'm super sick, because they're under so much pressure." The workforce entered the pandemic in a fragile state, with around 84,000 vacancies in the period from January to March 2020, meaning that the impact of COVID exacerbated problems that, in many cases, were already present. As of June 2022, NHS staff vacancies stood at more than 130,000<sup>117</sup>. At the national level, the proportion of respondents to the NHS Staff Survey who felt that there were enough staff at their organisation to do their job properly fell from 38% to 27% between 2020 and 2021 (Figure 25).

With the evidence building on the link between staff wellbeing and the safe delivery of healthcare services, ensuring that the workforce is adequately resourced and supported is a priority.

## There are enough staff at this organisation for me to do my job properly

% of staff who 'agree' or 'strongly agree'



Figure 25: Proportion of respondents who agree or strongly agree that they feel there are enough staff at their organisation to do their job properly.

## 5.3 Access to primary care

In the early months of the pandemic, numbers of GP appointments plummeted, due to a combination of changes in health-seeking behaviours and social distancing guidelines, drawing concerns about unmet needs and the risk of delays in diagnosis of serious conditions (Figure 26). A similar pattern is found for appointments with other primary care professionals. In autumn 2020, appointment rates had recovered to pre-pandemic levels, and even excluding COVID-19 vaccinations, analysis showed that appointments in November and December 2021 exceeded the same months in 2019.<sup>118</sup> The pressure on general practice therefore remains considerable.<sup>119</sup>



Figure 26: Number of primary care GP appointments per month.

That said, the 2021 GP patient survey found that more than 42% of people surveyed said they avoided making a GP appointment in the previous 12 months – nearly 20% of those people did so because they were worried about the burden on NHS services, and more than 17% because they were worried about the risk of catching COVID-19. The British Social Attitudes Survey found that satisfaction with the NHS as a whole fell to 36% (the lowest level recorded since 1997), and to 38% for general practice (the lowest level recorded since 1983), with waiting times for GP appointments a key factor highlighted.<sup>120</sup> The pandemic period has also been marked by a rapid increase in the use of telephone appointments, initially made necessary to reduce spread of COVID-19, but broadly continuing as a trend into 2022. The data show that there was no corresponding rise in the number of video/online consultations (Figure 27).<sup>121</sup> Separate analysis found that only one in ten patients requested a preference for face-to-face consultations with GPs, falling from 30% before the pandemic.<sup>122</sup>



Reporting period, month

Figure 27: Number of appointments per month by appointment type.

## Accelerating the adoption of innovation

Ensuring the effective uptake and adoption of innovations in healthcare can be challenging, time-consuming and slow.<sup>123</sup> However the unprecedented challenges presented by the pandemic led to a shortening of research and development timelines, in part by the removal of typical administrative barriers.<sup>124</sup> In terms of healthcare delivery, this supported an accelerated journey toward remote or virtual delivery of consultations and care either by phone, text, video or other online methods. In December 2019, NHS Digital reported that 15% of 23 million primary care appointments took place on the phone or online, by April 2020 this was 49% (see Figure 27). According to a King's Fund report many GP practices were conducting over 90% of their appointments virtually by May 2020.<sup>125</sup>

So far, there is limited evidence to accurately evaluate the impact of this shift on the overall quality and safety of care provided to patients.<sup>126</sup> Benefits can include increased patient satisfaction, with many citing it as a more convenient mode of care. In the context of the pandemic, patients did not have to weigh up the fear of infection. However, studies evaluating its use have found that patient satisfaction and experience vary, with a number of concerns raised about the impact on health equity.<sup>127</sup> Concerns have also been raised about whether a remote service raises safety issues for people from the most vulnerable and at-risk groups, or from the lack of a physical examination in some cases.<sup>128</sup>

The use of remote care and assessment for those suffering from COVID-19 has also accelerated rapidly, with home oximetry (monitoring of oxygen saturation levels using a simple device) providing a safe, efficient method for a health professional to assess a number of patients virtually. The COVID Oximetry @ Home programme has enabled a safety net and an effective way to detect and act on the early signs of deterioration in patients.<sup>129</sup> It has also prevented unnecessary contact for healthcare professionals with COVID patients.<sup>130</sup> However, its rapid uptake has raised questions about the safety of this model of care and concerns about whether efficiency has been achieved at the expense of patient centredness, alongside an overreliance on decision support tools and algorithms.<sup>131</sup> There remains a need to conduct further research and evaluation to fully understand the safety implications of these innovations.

#### Importance of effective communication in feeling safe

Taken from the NIHR Imperial College London Patient Safety Translational Research Centre Focus Group, 2021 (Anonymous).

"It seems like the doctor/patient relationship is something that ... more research needs to be put into because that has profound implications on patient safety. It leads to this big problem of communications or the breakdown of, or lack thereof communication, and what implications that has on patient safety. That seems like a recurring theme. Whether it comes down to using digital tools to access care or versus going face-to-face. Ultimately, it comes down to, are patients able to communicate effectively and know what's going on with their care and what decisions are being made by their doctors? It seems like that's still, there's still a gap there that needs to be addressed."

## 5.4 Diagnosis and management of chronic conditions

Further concerns about the indirect impact of the pandemic on patient safety is evident in data on the diagnosis and management of serious long-term conditions. Analysis by the Department for Health and Social Care (DHSC) and Office for National Statistics (ONS) found a delay in the recording of new diagnoses of chronic conditions during the pandemic. This was likely due, in part, to the use of remote care delivery to reduce the risk of transmission, and deprioritising certain non-urgent clinical activities.<sup>132</sup>

The conditions that saw the greatest fall in diagnosis rates in 2020, when compared to 2019 activity, were

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD, 51%), Atrial Fibrillation (26%), and Heart Failure (20%). For COPD, the fall was due to the inability to diagnose cases through teleconsultation, and confirmatory diagnostic spirometry tests being paused to prevent spread of COVID-19, rather than reflecting a fall in underlying need.<sup>133</sup> As a result, these missing diagnoses will likely contribute to poorer long-term outcomes for these patients.

Routine screening programmes were also severely disrupted by COVID-19. In September 2020, Breast Cancer Now estimated that around 986,000 women missed their mammograms in England due to breast screening programmes being paused in March 2020 – potentially translating to 8,600 women living with undetected breast cancer.<sup>134</sup> Bowel Cancer UK estimated that one million bowel cancer screening invitations were delayed due to the pause, with a backlog of thousands waiting for further investigation – equating to 1,350 undiagnosed bowel cancer cases.<sup>135</sup>

## Action on medication safety

#### By Professor Bryony Dean Franklin

"Medication errors are all too common. For example, a recent evidence synthesis suggests that 237 million errors occur in England each year. While nearly three quarters of these have little or no potential for harm, this still leaves 66 million that are potentially clinically significant. Avoidable harm from these errors is estimated to cost the NHS £98 million per year, causing or contributing to 1,708 deaths.<sup>136</sup> Recognising this as a global issue, the World Health Organization selected 'Medication without Harm' as its third Global Patient Safety Challenge for the period 2017–22.

Since then, the COVID-19 pandemic is likely to have created additional medication safety risks. For example, rates of prescribing new diabetes and antihypertensive medications for people in England with type II diabetes fell by about 20% during the period March to December 2020. This is likely due to 76%–88% fewer health checks being conducted in this population, with older people from more deprived areas experiencing the greatest reductions.<sup>137</sup> Interviews with a wide range of people isolating at home during the first phase of the pandemic also revealed significant challenges, such as having to omit medications or use less effective formulations, and high levels of anxiety related to obtaining medicines.<sup>138</sup> For many of these people, the pandemic served as a 'tipping point', exacerbating pre-existing logistical challenges and medication safety risks.

While various interventions to improve medication safety have been introduced, we also need to urgently identify ways of measuring and monitoring progress to reduce the risks of medication error. This should include measuring safety conceptualised both as the avoidance of harm and as a more subjective sense of 'feeling safe' from the patient and carer perspective, as well as identifying inequalities and inequities in relation to medication safety."

## 5.5 Access to secondary care

Challenges with timely and equitable access to secondary care services is a problem that pre-dates the pandemic, but has significantly worsened in the last two years.<sup>139</sup> Much of the focus for the NHS since the pandemic has been on addressing the significant rise in people waiting for elective care (either specialist care or surgery, Figure 29) which, in March 2022, stood at more than 6.3 million in England – a figure which has grown by more than 40% since February 2020.<sup>140</sup>

Combined with the significant drop in referrals for elective care during the pandemic – estimated at between 7.6 million and 9.1 million between March 2020 and September 2021 - it is predicted that the number of people waiting for care will continue to rise, and crucially, many people who needed access to specialist care and did not receive it, will seek help at a later point in their illness, leading to worse health outcomes.<sup>141</sup>

A poll conducted by Healthwatch England found that people living in the most-deprived areas in England are nearly twice as likely to experience a wait of more than one year for planned hospital treatments than those who live in the least-deprived areas. Further, it found that people's experience of these delays can take a toll on their health and wellbeing – 57% say it had affected their level of pain, and 54% saying it had affected their mental health.<sup>142</sup>



#### Reporting period, month

Figure 28: Total number of incomplete referral to treatment pathways.

## **COVID-19 Inpatient Experience Survey**

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) conducted a survey capturing the experience of more than 10,000 adults with confirmed or suspected COVID-19, who were discharged from hospital during April and May 2020.<sup>143</sup> The results revealed some notable findings relating to patient safety:

- 83% said they felt safe from the risk of catching COVID-19 in hospital
- 83% said they always had confidence and trust in the staff treating them
- 80% said their room or ward was "very clean"
- 32% did not know what would happen next with their care when leaving hospital
- 29% of those diagnosed with COVID-19 felt help from health and social care services would have been useful after leaving hospital but did not receive any.

These findings both suggest that patient perceptions of care in hospital remained positive despite the unprecedented pressure on staff during this time, as well as reinforcing some of the issues identified in the National Inpatient Survey around leaving hospital and accessing support.

Waiting for care in the most time-sensitive of situations has also not been immune to the pressures placed on the NHS. Delays in care for patients arriving in A&E have been associated with increased mortality and illness.<sup>144</sup> The proportion of patients in England waiting more than four hours before a decision whether to admit them to hospital has increased

from almost 15% in April 2019 to more than 25% in March 2022 (see Figure 29a) – this is in the context of the number of people presenting to A&E remaining at around 2.1 million per month during the same period, although a significant reduction in the number of patients was observed from January 2020 to April 2020 (see Figure 29b).<sup>145</sup>



Figure 29a: Proportion of A&E attendances with a waiting time more than four hours from arrival to admission, transfer or discharge in England



Figure 29b: Total A&E attendances in England

Waiting times and the impact on psychological safety for patients

Taken from the NIHR Imperial College London Patient Safety Translational Research Centre Focus Group, 2021 (Anonymous).

"Say that you came to A&E for a mental health problem, with a mental health issue. Usually what happens is you arrive there and then they get a psychiatrist or a mental health professional to come and assess you. Now, there was one time where I was waiting ... like 12 hours for that. Then that meant that I had to take up a bed that could've been used for someone else. I don't need that bed because I could've just been seen and gone home. There was no need for me to stay overnight, and then you're putting someone who's got needs in that situation. Do you think that it's really safe for me to be at Accident & Emergency when I'm in that situation? No, it's not.

No [I don't feel safe], because ... I'm in the middle of a mental health problem. I'm not being seen by a psychiatrist so I won't know where I'm going next. I won't know what the next steps are, and I'm sat in a hospital bed with screaming people having any kind of – these other hospital needs, people being sick, whilst I'm in the middle of a crisis." Ambulance service performance is measured by the time it takes from receiving a 999 call to a vehicle arriving at the patient's location.<sup>146</sup> Calls are triaged into four categories, based on the patient's condition. Figures 30a and b below show how response times have worsened for the two most serious condition categories nationally since 2020, and most notably for Category 2 calls<sup>147</sup> (Category 1 = life-threatening and needing immediate intervention and/or resuscitation, e.g. cardiac or respiratory arrest; Category 2 = emergency or a potentially serious condition that may require rapid assessment, urgent on-scene intervention and/or urgent transport). The national standard sets out that all ambulance trusts must respond to Category 1 calls in 7 minutes on average, and Category 2 calls in 18 minutes on average. Using the latest data point (April

#### Category 1 calls

2022), average response times for Category 2 calls ranged from 33 minutes (South East) to 1 hour 20 minutes (South West) – see Figures 30a and b.

National guidance states that patients arriving at A&E by ambulance must be "handed over" to the care of A&E staff within 15 minutes. Ambulance handovers are considered an important indicator of overall system capacity and safe running. Analysis of Urgent and Emergency Care Daily Situation Reports by the Nuffield Trust shows that, in the winter of 2021/22, 21% of ambulance handovers experienced a delay of more than 30 minutes; this compares to 12% in the winter of 2018/19.<sup>148</sup> An impact assessment by the Association of Ambulance Chief Executives found that, for patients who experienced a handover delay of more than an hour, eight out of ten potentially experienced additional harm.<sup>149</sup>



Figures 30a and b: Average ambulance response times for Category 1 and Category 2 calls, by month and by region respectively.

## Indirect impact of COVID-19 on maternity services

COVID-19 has impacted on the way maternity services are delivered, and women's experience of them. During the pandemic, many maternity units either limited the time that partners could be present, or did not allow their presence during antenatal care, and in some cases during labour and delivery. Whilst these measures were an effort to keep women and staff safe from infection, women reported that unclear guidance and lack of information made them feel uncertain, and for many who did not know prior to the birth whether they would be able to have a birthing partner, this led to feelings of distress and anxiety.<sup>150</sup>

The CQC maternity survey enables women to share their experiences.<sup>151</sup> The proportion of women who felt that if they raised a concern, it would be taken seriously, had risen steadily from 80% in 2013 to 84% in 2019, before dropping to 79% in 2021. Between 2019 and 2021, the number of women feeling that their partner or other supporting person was able to be involved as much as they wanted dropped from 97% to 84% (Figure 31).

## If your partner or someone else close to you was involved in your care during labour and birth, were they able to be involved as much as they wanted?



% of staff who answered 'Yes'.

Figure 31: Proportion of respondents who agree their partner or someone close to them was able to be involved as much as they wanted.

In 2021, a number of survey questions were added to understand the impact of COVID-19 restrictions. The survey found that a quarter of women felt they were not given enough information about the COVID-19 restrictions and their impact on their maternity care. In addition, 66% of women felt that the COVID-19 restrictions that had been in place had affected how involved their partner, or someone else close to them were able to be.

## 5.6 Summary

The safety of patients, and the wider public, has been the primary focus for the NHS during the pandemic. However, necessary changes to the way services were designed and delivered has inevitably had an indirect impact on patient safety. Insights around total excess deaths, and any variations in hospital death rates, can help to monitor this impact, but like all data relating to mortality, it only provides part of the picture and conclusions should be drawn with extreme caution.

The NHS workforce entered the pandemic already experiencing high rates of work-related stress and burnout – factors that are linked to reductions in patient safety and poorer patient outcomes. This trend has accelerated since the onset of the pandemic. Patients and the wider public empathise with the pressure staff are under, with some evidence showing that patients are reluctant to access services as a result. Due to a combination of changes in health-seeking behaviour, social distancing measures, and increased pressure on services, pre-existing issues with access to services right across the spectrum – from primary care to specialist care, to emergency care – have worsened. This is likely to have a significant effect on patient safety and outcomes for years to come.

# 6. Forward look





INSTITUTE OF GLOBAL HEALTH INNOVATION | National State of Patient Safety 2022 | 65

∠ BACK TO CONTENTS

# 6.1 What do we know about the current state of patient safety?

This report presents a complex picture of patient safety in England, and one which cannot be reduced to a single narrative or measure; however, important conclusions can be drawn. Patient safety has improved in several areas thanks to the concerted efforts of staff and through targeted initiatives and policies. The use of data in stimulating action on specific harms, and measuring its impact, remains a vitally important mechanism for safety improvement. Variations in performance exist, in areas such as hospital mortality, where further work is required to understand the underlying causes of this variation, and what can be learned from those organisations or regions performing well.

Insights derived from patient and staff surveys, despite being less objective, are vital to ensuring that the perceptions of how safe people feel are captured; these measures can also provide early indications that services are unsafe. There are signs in the survey data that a more positive safety and reporting culture is developing overall, but this is not universal, as highlighted in a series of inquiry and investigation reports into cases where there has been a failure to be open and honest with patients and their families.

The NHS responded heroically to the enormous pressure it was placed under by the COVID-19 pandemic. Confidence in clinicians among patients – a crucial aspect of patients feeling safe – has remained high during this time, which is a remarkable achievement. However, this has come at some cost to the health and wellbeing of the workforce, as evident in the NHS Staff Survey and other snapshot surveys. The pandemic has exacerbated issues with timely access to healthcare services, which will only worsen as the workforce becomes ever more stretched.

# 6.2 Future work: are we identifying and answering the right questions?

To understand the safety of any healthcare system, data are required that are accurate, meaningful, and measured over time to understand local and national trends. More fundamentally, it requires data that come from asking the right questions in the first place. Research suggests there are five questions that can be asked to understand the safety of care:<sup>152</sup>

- 1. Has patient care been safe in the past?
- 2. Are our clinical systems and processes reliable?
- 3. Is care safe today?
- 4. Will care be safe in the future?
- 5. Are we responding and improving?

The data presented in this report provide some answers to the first two questions – whether care has been safe in the past (such as data on HAIs) and whether clinical systems and processes are reliable (such as the number of VTE risk assessments performed on patients). However, data relating to the remaining questions remain relatively sparse, with major gaps in the data evident for mental health and learning disability services, or in the care provided in people's homes. Although some of these data will already be collected at a local level, the question remains: **how can national data provide the most complete picture of patient safety?** Some answers lie in research already conducted, for instance, by:

 Making better use of existing data to identify patient safety issues, particularly outside of hospital settings. For example, research has shown how analysis of clinical records established the contribution of referral delays from primary care to worsened survival rates for patients with colorectal cancer.<sup>153</sup>

- Making better use of real-time (or near realtime) data, to trigger alerts into current and emerging safety issues. For example, research demonstrated how Statistical Process Control (SPC) charts can be used to identify concerns in performance, such as those seen at Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust for patients admitted as an emergency.<sup>154</sup>
- Developing new indicators to measure harm at the patient level. For example, research has shown that, by calculating the proportion of patients who experience an "adverse event-free" hospital admission, a clearer picture can be given of safe care, and of patients who experience multiple adverse events.<sup>155</sup>

Accurate data on deaths due to problems in care remains vitally important to understanding the state of patient safety in England. Guidance is in place to support NHS organisations to improve their understanding of why such deaths occur, and how they can be prevented. The guidance requires organisations to report the number of deaths due to problems in care, but does not stipulate how it should be calculated.<sup>156</sup> As a result, as highlighted in Section 2.3, there is wide variation in reported rates, with some organisations reporting zero deaths, or no figure at all. Further work should be done to understand why compliance with the guidance is inconsistent, and explore the reasons for the variation in the calculations.

To support the development of a more complete picture of patient safety in England, we highlight five further questions below to focus future research and provide a sense-check to policy makers when considering making changes to the types of patient safety data being collected at a national level:

- Will the data tell us how safe care is today, and is likely to be in the future, not just how harmful it has been in the past?
- 2. Will the data tell us how safe services are across the continuum of care, not just in hospitals?
- 3. Will the data tell us how safe patients are while they wait for their care, not just when they receive their care?
- 4. Will the data tell us how safe people feel, not just how safe they are clinically?
- 5. Will the data tell us whether some people are less safe than others, particularly those from deprived, disadvantaged, or minority ethnic groups?

Perhaps most fundamentally of all, this report calls for patient safety to be conceived, first and foremost, from the patient's perspective. This means that data on patient safety should begin when the patient's journey begins, not just from the point when they enter a particular care setting, so that safety is assessed across the continuum of care. We know the numbers of patients who are waiting for their care, but we know far less about how safe those patients are, or how safe they feel, while they are waiting for their care or after they have been discharged. Patient safety data tends to be collected at an organisational level, but it should increasingly be organised and overseen at a whole health economy level to build a true picture of safety; the introduction and development of Integrated Care Systems in England presents a unique opportunity to achieve this.

## 6.3 Conclusion

This report highlights a way forward in collecting, analysing and reporting patient safety data in the NHS in England. For policymakers and system leaders, it highlights warning signs in the existing data where further attention needs to be paid, as well as some emerging threats that have coincided with, or been exacerbated by, the COVID-19 pandemic. This report also highlights the areas where far less is known about patient safety, or where the dots need to be joined with data from other aspects of quality, to ensure it becomes part of the patient safety agenda. Information about the safety of care outside hospital settings, for people from Black and minority ethnic groups and more deprived parts of the country, and that which draws directly from patient and staff perceptions of safety, are areas requiring further attention, including from the research community, to drive continuous improvements in the safety of patients.

## References

- <sup>1</sup> Derived in part from: Sirrs C. NHS Patient Safety Timeline. Available from: <u>https://warwick.ac.uk/fac/arts/history/chm/</u> <u>research/current/hazardoushospitals/patient-safety-timeline/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>2</sup> WHO. Global action on patient safety. Seventy-Second World Health Assembly. 28 May 2019. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.</u> <u>int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA72/A72\_R6-en.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>3</sup> National Advisory Group on the Safety of Patients in England. A promise to learn – a commitment to act: Improving the Safety of Patients in England. 2013. Available from: <u>https://assets. publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ attachment\_data/file/226703/Berwick\_Report.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>4</sup> Illingworth J. Continuous improvement of patient safety: The case for change in the NHS. Health Foundation. 2015. Available from: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/publications/continuousimprovement-of-patient-safety</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>5</sup> Gandhi TK, Kaplan GS, Leape L, et al. Transforming concepts in patient safety: a progress report. BMJ Quality & Safety 2018;27: 1019–1026.
- <sup>6</sup> Shaw A, Flott K, Fontana G, Durkin M, Darzi A. No patient safety without health worker safety. The Lancet 2020;396(10262):1541–1543.
- 7 Thompson D. Embracing digital: is COVID-19 the catalyst for lasting change? Institute of Global Health Innovation, Imperial College London. 2021. Available from: <u>https://assets.ey.com/content/</u> <u>dam/ey-sites/ey-com/en\_gl/topics/government-and-publicsector/ey-embracing-digital-is-covid-19-the-catalyst-for-lastingchange.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- 8 The AHSN Network. Rapid evaluation of health and care services – planning a sustainable solution for the post-COVID reset. 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.ahsnnetwork.com/wp-content/</u><u>uploads/2021/02/Rapid Evaluation of Health and Care</u>

Services FINAL.pdf [Accessed 26 July 2022].

- 9 Elliott RA, Camacho E, Jankovic D, et al. Economic analysis of the prevalence and clinical and economic burden of medication error in England. BMJ Quality & Safety 2021;30:96–105.
- NHS Resolution. Annual report and accounts 2020/21. Available from: <u>https://resolution.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/</u><u>Annual-report-and-accounts-2020-2021-WEB-1.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>11</sup> Care Quality Commission. Safety, equity and engagement in maternity services. 12 May 2022. Available from: <u>https://www. cqc.org.uk/publications/themes-care/safety-equity-engagementmaternity-services</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>12</sup> NHS England. Consultant-led Referral to Treatment Waiting Times Data 2021-22. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/</u> <u>statistics/statistical-work-areas/rtt-waiting-times/rtt-data-2021-22/#Mar22</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>13</sup> NHS Digital. NHS Vacancy Statistics England April 2015 March 2022 Experimental Statistics. Available from: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-vacanciessurvey/april-2015---june-2022-experimental-statistics</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].

- <sup>14</sup> Care Quality Commission. NHS Patient Surveys. Adult Inpatient Survey – Data. 2019. Available from: <u>https://nhssurveys.org/datalibrary/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>15</sup> NHS Staff Survey. National results. 2021. Available from: https:// www.nhsstaffsurveys.com/ [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>16</sup> MBRRACE-UK. Saving Lives, Improving Mothers' Care Lessons learned to inform maternity care from the UK and Ireland Confidential Enquiries into Maternal Deaths and Morbidity 2017-19. 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/</u> <u>assets/downloads/mbrrace-uk/reports/maternal-report-2021/ MBRRACE-UK Maternal Report 2021 - FINAL - WEB VERSION. pdf [Accessed 26 July 2022].</u>
- <sup>17</sup> Vincent C, Burnett S, Carthey J. The measurement and monitoring of safety. Health Foundation. 2013. Available from: <u>https://www. health.org.uk/publications/the-measurement-and-monitoring-ofsafety</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>18</sup> Learning from Excellence. A call to learn from what works well. Available from: <u>https://learningfromexcellence.com/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>19</sup> NHS England and NHS Improvement. The NHS Patient Safety Strategy: Safer culture, safer systems, safer patients. 2019. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2020/08/190708\_Patient\_Safety\_Strategy\_for\_website\_</u> <u>v4.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- O'Hara JK, Reynolds C, Moore S, et al. What can patients tell us about the quality and safety of hospital care? Findings from a UK multicentre survey study. BMJ Quality & Safety 2018;27:673–682.
- Lawton R, McEachan RRC, Giles SJ, et al. Development of an evidence-based framework of factors contributing to patient safety incidents in hospital settings: a systematic review. BMJ Quality & Safety 2012;21:369–380.
- <sup>22</sup> Vincent C, Burnett S, Carthey J. 2013. Op cit.
- <sup>23</sup> NHS England and NHS Improvement. 2019. *Op cit*.
- Flott K, Fontana G, Darzi A. The Global State of Patient Safety. Imperial College London. 2019. Available from: <u>https://www. imperial.ac.uk/media/imperial-college/institute-of-global-healthinnovation/GlobalStateofPS\_DIGITAL\_16Sep19%5B2%5D.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>25</sup> WHO. The Global Health Observatory. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/sustainable-development-goals#tab=tab\_1</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>26</sup> The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine. Crossing the Global Quality Chasm: Improving Health Care Worldwide. Available from: <u>https://www.nap.edu/catalog/25152/</u> <u>crossing-the-global-quality-chasm-improving-health-care-</u> <u>worldwide</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>27</sup> Kruk ME, Gage AD, Arsenault C, et al. High-quality health systems in the Sustainable Development Goals era: time for a revolution. The Lancet Global Health Commission 2018;6(11):1196–1252.

- <sup>28</sup> OECD. The Economics of Patient Safety: From analysis to action. 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.oecd.org/health/health-systems/Economics-of-Patient-Safety-October-2020.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- 29 WHO. Global Patient Safety Action Plan 2021–2030: towards eliminating avoidable harm in health care. 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/teams/integrated-health-services/</u> <u>patient-safety/policy/global-patient-safety-action-plan</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>30</sup> Health Foundation. Evidence scan: Levels of harm. 2011. Available from: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/</u> LevelsOfHarm\_o.pdf [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>31</sup> Vincent C, Burnett S, Carthey J. 2013. *Op cit*.
- <sup>32</sup> Vincent CA, Coulter A. Patient safety: what about the patient? BMJ Quality & Safety 2002;11:76–80.
- <sup>33</sup> The Learning Healthcare Project. Learning Healthcare System. Available from: <u>https://learninghealthcareproject.org/</u> <u>background/learning-healthcare-system/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>34</sup> Illingworth J. Is the NHS getting safer? Health Foundation. 2015. Available from: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/ IsTheNHSGettingSafer.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>35</sup> Vincent C, Burnett S, Carthey J. 2013. *Op cit*.
- <sup>36</sup> Health & Safety Executive. A Guide to Measuring Health and Safety Performance. 2001. Available from: <u>https://www.hse.gov.uk/opsunit/perfmeas.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- OECD iLibrary. Health at a Glance 2019. OECD Indicators: Avoidable mortality (preventable and treatable). Available from <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/3b4fdbf2-en/index.</u> <u>html?itemld=/content/component/3b4fdbf2-en</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>38</sup> Office for National Statistics. Vital statistics in the UK: births, deaths and marriages. 3 December 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/</u> populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/
- Office for National Statistics. Vital statistics in the UK: Avoidable mortality in Great Britain. 7 March 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/</u> <u>healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/datasets/</u> <u>avoidablemortalityintheuk</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>40</sup> Office for National Statistics. Overview of the UK population: July 2017. Available from: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/</u> <u>peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/</u> <u>populationestimates/articles/overviewoftheukpopulation/</u> <u>january2021</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>41</sup> OECD iLibrary. 2019. *Op cit*.
- <sup>42</sup> Hogan H, Healey F, Neale G, et al. Preventable deaths due to problems in care in English acute hospitals: a retrospective case record review study. BMJ Quality & Safety 2012;21(9):737–45
- 43 National Quality Board. National Guidance on Learning from Deaths. 2017. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2017/03/nqb-national-guidance-learning-fromdeaths.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].

- <sup>44</sup> Brummell Z, Vindrola Padros C, Braun D, et al. NHS 'Learning from Deaths' reports: a qualitative and quantitative document analysis of the first year of a countrywide patient safety programme. BMJ Open 2021;11:e046619.
- 45 Ibid.
- <sup>46</sup> NHS Digital. About the Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI). Available from: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/ci-hub/summary-hospital-level-mortality-indicator-shmi</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- 47 NHS Digital. Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) Deaths associated with hospitalisation, England, February 2020 – January 2021. Available from: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-andinformation/publications/statistical/shmi/2021-06</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>48</sup> Bottle A, Faitna P, Aylin PP. Patient-level and hospital-level variation and related time trends in COVID-19 case fatality rates during the first pandemic wave in England: multilevel modelling analysis of routine data. BMJ Quality & Safety. 2022 Mar; 31(3):211–220.
- 49 Low harm is defined as 'the patient required extra observation or minor treatment', moderate harm is defined as 'the patient required further treatment or procedure', and severe harm is defined as 'permanent or long-term harm caused by the incident'. Source: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/ uploads/2019/10/NRLS\_Degree\_of\_harm\_FAQs\_-\_final\_v1.1.pdf</u>
- <sup>50</sup> NHS England. NRLS national patient safety incident reports: commentary. September 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/NAPSIR-commentary-Sept-2020-FINAL.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>51</sup> NHS England. Next steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View: Primary care. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/fiveyear-forward-view/next-steps-on-the-nhs-five-year-forward-view/ primary-care/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>52</sup> NHS England. NRLS national patient safety incident reports: commentary. September 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/NAPSIR-commentary-Sept-2021.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>53</sup> Avery AJ, Sheehan C, Bell B, et al. Incidence, nature and causes of avoidable significant harm in primary care in England: retrospective case note review. BMJ Quality & Safety 2021;30:961–976.
- <sup>54</sup> NHS England. Learn from patient safety events (LFPSE) service. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/patient-safety/patient-safety-incident-management-system/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>55</sup> World Thrombosis Day. Understanding thrombosis. Available from: <u>https://www.worldthrombosisday.org/issue/hospital-associatedvte/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>56</sup> House of Commons Health Committee. The Prevention of Venous Thromboembolism in Hospitalised Patients Second Report of Session 2004–05. 2005. London: The Stationery Office.
- 57 NHS England. National Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) Prevention Programme helping to save lives. 27 June 2013. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/2013/06/vte-prog/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>58</sup> Roberts LN, Durkin M, Arya R. Annotation: Developing a national programme for VTE prevention. British Journal of Haematology 2017 Jul;178(1):162–170.

- <sup>59</sup> Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership. National Audit of Inpatient Falls 2019. Available from: <u>https://www.data.gov.uk/</u> <u>dataset/e86c4078-c7ab-42f0-aocf-e184f9f482ce/national-auditof-inpatient-falls-2019</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>60</sup> Royal College of Physicians. National Hip Fracture Database (NHFD) Annual Report 2018. Available from: <u>https://www.rcplondon.</u> <u>ac.uk/projects/outputs/national-hip-fracture-database-nhfd-annual-report-2018</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>61</sup> Royal College of Physicians. National Audit of Inpatient Falls (NAIF) Audit Report 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/</u> projects/outputs/national-audit-inpatient-falls-naif-2020-annualreport [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>62</sup> Royal College of Physicians. About the National Hip Fracture Database. Available from: <u>https://www.nhfd.co.uk/20/</u> <u>hipfracturer.nsf/docs/about</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>63</sup> Royal College of Physicians. 2020. *Op cit*.
- <sup>64</sup> Royal College of Physicians. National Hip Fracture Database. Available from: <u>https://www.nhfd.co.uk/20/NHFDCharts.nsf/</u><u>wwcharts/Overallperformance?open</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022]. Note – data taken from the 30-day mortality (annual) breakdown.
- <sup>65</sup> [Archived]. Department of Health. What is a Healthcare Associated Infection? Available from: <u>https://webarchive.nationalarchives.</u> <u>gov.uk/ukgwa/20120118164608/http://hcai.dh.gov.uk/</u> <u>reducinghcais/hcai/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>66</sup> NHS. Health A–Z: Clostridium difficile (C. diff) infection. Available from: <u>https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/c-difficile/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>67</sup> Healthcare Commission. Investigation into outbreaks of Clostridium difficile at Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust. 2007. Available from: <u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/shared/bsp/hi/ pdfs/11\_10\_ormaidstone\_and\_tunbridge\_wells\_investigation\_report\_oct\_2007.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>68</sup> UK Parliament. Written Statement: Clostridium Difficile Outbreaks at Stoke Mandeville Hospital and Publication of Data on Healthcare. Volume 449: debated on Monday 24 July 2006. Available from: <u>https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/2006-07-24/debates/0607246000043/</u><u>HospitalAndPublicationOfDataOnHealthcare</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>69</sup> Healthcare Commission. 2007. *Op cit*.
- <sup>70</sup> Office for Health Improvement and Disparities. Public health profiles: *C. difficile* all rates by reporting acute trust and financial year. Available from: <u>https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/c%20</u> diff#page/4/gid/1/pat/159/par/K0200001/ati/15/are/ E9200001/iid/92168/age/205/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/ tbm/1 [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>71</sup> Ibid.
- 72 NHS. Health A–Z: MRSA. Available from: <u>https://www.nhs.uk/</u> <u>conditions/mrsa/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>73</sup> The Guardian. MRSA: the issue explained. 22 March 2005. Available from: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/society/2005/</u> <u>mar/22/mrsa</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].

- <sup>74</sup> Office for Health Improvement and Disparities. Public health profiles: MRSA bacteraemia all rates by reporting acute trust and financial year. Available from: <u>https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/mrsa#page/4/gid/1/pat/159/par/Ko200001/ati/15/are/E9200001/iid/92171/age/1/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>75</sup> Office for Health Improvement and Disparities. Public health profiles: MSSA bacteraemia all rates by reporting acute trust and financial year. Available from: <u>https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/</u> <u>search/mssa#page/4/gid/1/pat/159/par/Ko200001/ati/15/are/</u> <u>E92000001/iid/92176/age/1/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/</u> <u>tbm/1</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>76</sup> Public Health England. Annual epidemiological commentary: Gram-negative bacteraemia, MRSA bacteraemia, MSSA bacteraemia and *C. difficile* infections, up to and including financial year April 2020 to March 2021. Available from: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/1016843/Annual\_epidemiology\_ commentary\_April\_2020\_March\_2021.pdf [Accessed 26 July 2022].</u>
- 77 Office for Health Improvement and Disparities. Public health profiles: *E. coli* bacteraemia all rates by reporting acute trust and financial year. Available from: <u>https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/</u> <u>search/e%20coli#page/4/gid/1/pat/159/par/K0200001/ati/15/</u> <u>are/E92000001/iid/92169/age/1/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/ cid/4/tbm/1</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>78</sup> Abernethy J, Guy R, Sheridan EA, et al. Epidemiology of Escherichia coli bacteraemia in England: results of an enhanced sentinel surveillance programme. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2017 Apr;95(4):365–375.
- 79 Health Foundation. Infection prevention and control: lessons from acute care in England. Towards a whole health economy approach. 2015. Available from: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/ InfectionPreventionAndControlLessonsFromAcuteCareInEngland.</u> pdf [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>80</sup> Bhattacharya A, Collin SM, Stimson J, et al. Healthcare-associated COVID-19 in England: A national data linkage study. The Journal of Infection 2021;83(5):565–572.
- National Maternity Review. Better Births: Improving outcomes of maternity services in England. A Five Year Forward View for maternity care. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/02/national-maternity-review-report.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>82</sup> NHS England. Maternity Transformation Programme. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/mat-transformation/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- Bepartment of Health. Safer Maternity Care: The National Maternity Safety Strategy – Progress and Next Steps. Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safer-maternity-care-progress-and-next-steps</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>84</sup> MBRRACE-UK. 2021. *Op cit*.
- <sup>85</sup> Ibid.
- 86 MBRRACE-UK. Perinatal Mortality Surveillance Report. UK Perinatal Deaths for Births from January to December 2019. Available from: <u>https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/assets/downloads/mbrrace-uk/reports/perinatal-surveillance-report-2019/MBRRACE-UK</u> <u>Perinatal\_Surveillance\_Report\_2019\_-\_Final\_v2.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].

- <sup>87</sup> Gale C, Ougham K, Jawad S, et al. Brain injury occurring during or soon after birth: annual incidence and rates of brain injuries to monitor progress against the national maternity ambition. 2018 and 2019 national data. 2021. Imperial College London. Available from: <u>https://www.imperial.ac.uk/media/imperial-college/</u> medicine/dept-medicine/infectious-diseases/neonatology/2018-2019-Brain-injury-occurring-during-or-soon-after-birth-NATIONAL-DATA-280121.pdf [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- 88 Birthrights. Systemic racism, not broken bodies: An inquiry into racial injustice and human rights in UK maternity care. 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.birthrights.org.uk/wp-content/ uploads/2022/05/Birthrights-inquiry-systemic-racism-May-22web-1.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>89</sup> House of Commons Health and Social Care Committee. The safety of maternity services in England. Fourth Report of Session 2021–22. 2021. Available from: <u>https://committees.parliament.</u> <u>uk/publications/6578/documents/73151/default/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>90</sup> MBRRACE-UK. 2019. Op cit.
- <sup>91</sup> NHS Resolution. 2020/21. Op cit.
- 92 Care Quality Commission. 2019. Op cit.
- 93 Griffiths P, Maruotti A, Recio Saucedo A On behalf of Missed Care Study Group, et al. Nurse staffing, nursing assistants and hospital mortality: retrospective longitudinal cohort study. BMJ Quality & Safety 2019;28:609–617.
- 94 NHS England. Safer staffing: nursing and midwifery. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/safe-staffing/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>95</sup> Vincent C, Amalberti R. Safer Healthcare: Strategies for the Real World. London: Springer Open; 2016.
- <sup>96</sup> Care Quality Commission. NHS Patient Surveys. Community Mental Health Survey - Data. 2019. Available from: <u>https://nhssurveys.org/data-library/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- 97 Care Quality Commission. Better care in my hands: A review of how people are involved in their care. 2016. Available from: <u>https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20160519\_Better\_care\_in\_my\_hands\_FINAL.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- 98 NHS Staff Survey. 2021. Op cit.
- 99 NHS England. 2020 National NHS Staff Survey. 11 March 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/</u> <u>statistics/2021/03/11/2020-national-nhs-staff-survey/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>100</sup> Fernandez Crespo R, Neves AL, Abdulhadi Alagha M, et al. What can data mining tell us about patient safety? Using linear discriminant analysis to identify characteristics associated with positive safety rating in London NHS organisations. medRxiv 2021.11.12.21266228 [Preprint].
- <sup>101</sup> NHS England. NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/</u> equality-standard/ [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>102</sup> Department of Health & Social Care. Leadership for a collaborative and inclusive future. 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-review-leadership-for-a-collaborative-and-inclusive-future/leadership-for-a-collaborative-and-inclusive-future [Accessed 26 July 2022].</u>

- <sup>103</sup> UK Government. Deaths within 28 days of a positive test in England. Available from: <u>https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/details/ deaths?areaType=nation&areaName=England</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>104</sup> Office for National Statistics. Prevalence of ongoing symptoms following coronavirus (COVID-19) infection in the UK: 6 May 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/ bulletins/prevalenceofongoingsymptomsfollowingcoronaviruscovid19infectionintheuk/6may2022#:~:text=An%20estimated%20 1.8%20million%20people,April%202022%20(see%20Figure%20 1) [Accessed 26 July 2022].</u>
- <sup>105</sup> WHO. Global excess deaths associated with COVID-19, January 2020 – December 2021. May 2022. Available from: <u>https://www. who.int/data/stories/global-excess-deaths-associated-with-covid-19-january-2020-december-2021</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- 106 WHO. Global excess deaths associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. 10 May 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/questions-and-answers/item/global-excess-deaths-associated-with-the-COVID-19-pandemic</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>107</sup> Office for National Statistics. Excess deaths in England and Wales: March 2020 to December 2021. 22 March 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/</u> <u>birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/</u> <u>excessdeathsinenglandandwales/march2020todecember2021</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>108</sup> The Health Foundation. What has happened to non-COVID mortality during the pandemic? 6 December 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/what-has-happened-to-non-covid-mortality-during-the-pandemic</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>109</sup> Suleman M, Sonthalia S, Webb C, et al. Unequal pandemic, fairer recovery: The COVID-19 impact inquiry report. London: Health Foundation; 2021.
- <sup>110</sup> Office for National Statistics. 22 March 2022. *Op cit*.
- <sup>111</sup> General Medical Council. Completing the Picture Survey: Views of doctors who have stopped practising in the UK, why they left and what might encourage them to return. Available from: <u>https:// www.gmc-uk.org/-/media/documents/completing-the-picturesurvey\_pdf-87815271.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>112</sup> Garcia CdL, Abreu LCd, Ramos JLS, et al. Influence of Burnout on Patient Safety: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Medicina 2019; 55(9):553.
- <sup>113</sup> Best J. Undermined and undervalued: how the pandemic exacerbated moral injury and burnout in the NHS. BMJ 2021;374:n1858.
- Marsh S. Doctors, nurses, porters, volunteers: the UK health workers who have died from Covid-19. The Guardian. 22 May 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/ apr/16/doctors-nurses-porters-volunteers-the-uk-health-workerswho-have-died-from-covid-19 [Accessed 26 July 2022].</u>
- <sup>115</sup> Office for National Statistics. Coronavirus (COVID-19) related deaths by occupation, before and during lockdown, England and Wales: deaths registered between 9 March and 30 June 2020. 22 September 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.ons. gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/ causesofdeath/bulletins/</u>

- <sup>116</sup> Stephens T, Vail EA, Billings J. Silver linings: will the COVID-19 pandemic instigate long overdue mental health support services for healthcare workers? British Journal of Anaesthesia 2002;128(6): 912e914.
- <sup>117</sup> General Medical Council. National training survey 2021: Results. Available from: <u>https://www.gmc-uk.org/-/media/documents/</u> <u>national-training-survey-results-2021---summary-report\_pdf-</u> <u>87050829.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>118</sup> NHS Digital. NHS Vacancy Statistics England February 2015– March 2020, Experimental Statistics. 28 May 2020. Available from: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/ statistical/nhs-vacancies-survey/february-2015---march-2020experimental-statistics</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>119</sup> The Health Foundation. Understanding activity in general practice: what can the data tell us? 24 February 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/</u><u>charts-and-infographics/understanding-activity-in-general-</u><u>practice-what-can-the-data-tell-us</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>120</sup> The Health Foundation. How has the COVID-19 pandemic impacted primary care? 27 May 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/charts-and-infographics/how-has-the-covid-19-pandemic-impacted-primary-care</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>121</sup> The King's Fund. Public satisfaction with the NHS and social care in 2021: Results from the British Social Attitudes survey.
   30 March 2022. Available from: <a href="https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/public-satisfaction-nhs-social-care-2021">https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/public-satisfaction-nhs-social-care-2021</a> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>122</sup> Office for National Statistics. 22 March 2022. *Op cit*.
- <sup>123</sup> The Health Foundation. Analysis finds 10% of patient care requests indicate a preference for face-to-face GP consultation. 17 March 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/newsand-comment/news/analysis-finds-10-of-patient-care-requestsindicate-a-preference-for-face-to-face-gp-consultation</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>124</sup> Horton T, Illingworth J, Warburton W. The spread challenge: How to support the successful uptake of innovations and improvements in health care. London: The Health Foundation; 2018.
- Palanica A, Fossat Y. COVID-19 has inspired global healthcare innovation. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2020 Oct; 111(5): 645–648.
- <sup>126</sup> Collins B. What is Covid-19 revealing about innovation in the NHS? The King's Fund. 3 August 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2020/08/covid-19-innovation-nhs</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- Greenhalgh T, Rosen R. Remote by default general practice: must we, should we, dare we? British Journal of General Practice 2021; 71 (705): 149–150.
- <sup>128</sup> Neves AL, van Dael J, O'Brien N, et al. Use and impact of virtual primary care on quality and safety: The public's perspectives during the COVID-19 pandemic. Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare. December 2021.
- <sup>129</sup> Rosen R, Leone C. Getting the best out of remote consulting in general practice: Practical challenges and policy opportunities. Nuffield Trust. 2022.
- <sup>130</sup> Greenhalgh T, Knight M, Inada-Kim M, et al.Remote management of covid-19 using home pulse oximetry and virtual ward support. BMJ 2021;372:n677.

- <sup>131</sup> Alboksmaty A, Beaney T, Elkin S, et al. Effectiveness and safety of pulse oximetry in remote patient monitoring of patients with COVID-19: a systematic review. The Lancet Digital Health 2022;4(4):279–289.
- <sup>132</sup> Wieringa S, Neves AL, Rushforth A, et al. Safety implications of remote assessments for suspected COVID-19: qualitative study in UK primary care. BMJ Quality & Safety Published Online First: 08 March 2022.
- <sup>133</sup> Department of Health & Social Care, Office for National Statistics. Direct and Indirect Health Impacts of COVID-19 in England. September 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dhsc-direct-and-indirect-healthimpacts-of-covid-19-in-england-long-paper-9-september-2021</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>134</sup> Breast Cancer Now. Almost one million women in UK miss vital breast screening due to COVID-19. 30 September 2020. Available from: <u>https://breastcancernow.org/about-us/media/ press-releases/almost-one-million-women-in-uk-miss-vitalbreast-screening-due-covid-19#:~:text=our%20TV%20advert-,Almost%200ne%20million%20women%20in%20UK%20 miss,screening%20due%20to%20COVID%2D19&text=Nearly%20 one%20million%20women%20in,of%20Breast%20Cancer%20 Awareness%20Month [Accessed 26 July 2022].</u>
- <sup>135</sup> Bowel Cancer UK. A million missed opportunities for bowel cancer screening. 19 June 2020. Available from: <u>https://www. bowelcanceruk.org.uk/news-and-blogs/news/a-million-missedopportunities-for-bowel-cancer-screening/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>136</sup> Elliott RA, Camacho E, Jankovic D, et al. Economic analysis of the prevalence and clinical and economic burden of medication error in England. BMJ Quality & Safety 2021;30:96-105.
- <sup>137</sup> Carr MJ, Wright AK, Leelarathna L, et al. Impact of COVID-19 restrictions on diabetes health checks and prescribing for people with type 2 diabetes: a UK-wide cohort study involving 618,161 people in primary care. BMJ Quality & Safety 2022;31:503-514.
- <sup>138</sup> Garfield S, Wheeler C, Boucher C, et al. Medicines management at home during the COVID-19 pandemic: a qualitative study exploring the UK patient/carer perspective. International Journal of Pharmacy Practice 2021;29(5):458–464.
- <sup>139</sup> The King's Fund. NHS waiting times: our position. 9 June 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/positions/</u><u>nhs-waiting-times</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- 140 NHS England. 2021–22. *Op cit*.
- 141 National Audit Office. NHS backlogs and waiting times in England. 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.nao.org.uk/press-release/</u><u>nhs-backlogs-and-waiting-times-in-england/#:~:text=The%20</u><u>NAO%20estimates%20that%20there.than%20would%20</u><u>have%20been%20expected</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>142</sup> Healthwatch England. People living in the poorest areas waiting longer for hospital treatment. 27 September 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/news/2021-09-27/people-livingpoorest-areas-waiting-longer-hospital-treatment</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].

- <sup>143</sup> Care Quality Commission. CQC reports on the findings of its coronavirus (COVID-19) inpatient experience survey. 12 May 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.cqc.org.uk/news/stories/cqc-reports-findings-its-coronavirus-covid-19-inpatient-experience-survey</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- 144 The King's Fund. What's going on with A&E waiting times? 26 May 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/</u> <u>projects/urgent-emergency-care/urgent-and-emergency-caremythbusters?utm\_source=linkedin&utm\_medium=social&utm\_ term=thekingsfund</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>145</sup> NHS England. A&E Attendances and Emergency Admissions. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/</u> <u>statistical-work-areas/ae-waiting-times-and-activity/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>146</sup> Nuffield Trust. Ambulance response times. 4 May 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/resource/ambulanceresponse-times#background</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>147</sup> NHS England. Ambulance Quality Indicators. Available from: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/</u> <u>ambulance-quality-indicators/</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>148</sup> Nuffield Trust. Ambulance handover delays. 4 May 022. Available from: <u>https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/resource/ambulancehandover-delays#background</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>149</sup> Association of Ambulance Chief Executives. Delayed hospital handovers: Impact assessment of patient harm. 2021. Available from: <u>https://aace.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/AACE-Delayed-hospital-handovers-Impact-assessment-of-patient-harm-FINAL-Nov-2021.pdf</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].

- <sup>150</sup> Aydin E, Glasgow KA, Weiss SM, et al. Giving birth in a pandemic: women's birth experiences in England during COVID-19. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth. 2022; 22:304.
- <sup>151</sup> Care Quality Commission. Maternity survey 2021. 12 May 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/surveys/</u> <u>maternity-survey-2021</u> [Accessed 26 July 2022].
- <sup>152</sup> Vincent C, Burnett S, Carthey J. 2013. *Op cit*.
- <sup>153</sup> Arhi CS, Burns EM, Bottle A, et al. Delays in referral from primary care worsen survival for patients with colorectal cancer: a retrospective cohort study. British Journal of General Practice 2020;70(696):463–471.
- <sup>154</sup> Bottle A, Aylin, P. Intelligent Information: A National System for Monitoring Clinical Performance. Health Services Research 2008;43(1):10–31.
- <sup>155</sup> King, A, Bottle, A, Faiz, O, et al. Investigating Adverse Event Free Admissions in Medicare Inpatients as a Patient Safety Indicator. Annals of Surgery 2017;265(5):910–915.
- <sup>156</sup> National Quality Board. 2017. *Op cit*.


If you would like a paper copy of this report, or for further information please contact us at **ighi@imperial.ac.uk** 

imperial.ac.uk/global-health-innovation/